
Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 17 July 2019
2.00 pm
Warspite Room, Council House

Members:
Councillor Morris, Chair
Councillor Churchill, Vice Chair
Councillors Sam Davey, Drean, Mavin, Riley, Stevens, Watkin and Wheeler.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This meeting will be webcast and available on-line after the meeting.  By entering the Council 
Chamber, councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 
recording for the webcast.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy.

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 
process please follow this link - Get Involved

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Oversight and Governance
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for  Democratic Advisor
T 01752 305155
E democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk
www.plymouth.gov.uk
Published 09 July 2019

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings


Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

1. To Note the Appointment of the Vice Chair  

The Committee will be asked to note the appointment of the Vice Chair for the 
forthcoming municipal year 2019/20.

2. Apologies  

To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Councillors.

3. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on the 
agenda.

4. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 8)

To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting held on 5 June 2019.

5. Chair's Urgent Business  

To receive reports on business which in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 
forward for urgent consideration.

6. The Box Update  (Pages 9 - 62)

7. The iMayflower Project  (Pages 63 - 76)

8. Plymouth Sound National Marine Park  (Presentation)

9. Work Programme  (Pages 77 - 80)

10. Tracking Decisions  (Pages 81 - 84)



Draft

Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 5 June 2019

Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 5 June 2019

PRESENT:

Councillor Morris, in the Chair.
Councillor Drean, Vice Chair.
Councillors Buchan, Carson, Churchill, Sam Davey, Mavin and Wheeler.

Apologies for absence: Councillors Riley and Stevens.

Also in attendance: Richard Banner (Transport Strategy Co-ordinator ), Paul 
Barnard (Service Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure), Councillor 
Coker (Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure), Councillor Dann 
(Cabinet Member for Environment and Street Scene), Nicola Horne (Environmental 
Health (Environmental) Protection Manager, Kevin McKenzie (Policy and 
Intelligence Advisor) and Helen Prendergast (Democratic Advisor).

The meeting started at 2.00 pm and finished at 4.58 pm.

Note: At a future meeting, the Panel will consider the accuracy of these draft minutes, so 
they may be subject to change.  Please check the minutes of that meeting to confirm 
whether these minutes have been amended.

1. To Note the Appointment of the Chair and Vice-Chair  

The Committee noted the appointment of Councillor Morris as Chair and 
Councillor Drean as Vice Chair for the forthcoming municipal year 2019/20.

2. Declarations of Interest  

There were no declarations of interest made by Councillors in accordance with the 
code of conduct.

3. Minutes  

The Committee agreed that the minutes of the meeting held on 6 March 2019 are 
confirmed as a correct record.

4. Chair's Urgent Business  

The Chair advised that he had signed off an urgent Leader executive decision 
regarding Tranche 1 – Transforming Cities Fund.  The reasons for urgency related to 
–

● the funding for Tranche 1 of the Transforming Cities Fund needed to 
be spent within this financial year (2019/20);

Page 1 Agenda Item 4



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 5 June 2019

● the spend could not occur prior to the formal decision being made;

● the funding was time critical and projects were at an impasse until a 
formal decision was made;

● the programme was deemed low risk, only £57,765 of 
Section106/Plymouth City Council funding would be added to the 
capital programme compared with £7,594,850 external award.

The Committee noted the urgent executive decision.

5. Terms of Reference  

The Chair advised that the purpose of the Scrutiny Management Board was to 
manage scrutiny in a way that ensured the functions of overview and scrutiny were 
fairly balanced across all aspects of the Council’s work, with a view to improving 
services, reducing inequalities and improving outcomes for the people of Plymouth.

The Committee noted its terms of reference.

6. Strategic Transport Scheme Update  

Councillor Coker (Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure) and 
Paul Barnard (Service Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure) provided an 
overview of the transport infrastructure.

The key areas of the report included –

● strategic transport programme;
● Marjon link road bus and cycle link opened 2015;
● the new Plymouth Coach Station opened 2016;
● Derriford Hospital Interchange opened 2017;
● Laira Bridge to Broxton Drive part of the Eastern Corridor 

strategic cycle network installed in 2017;
● Derriford transport scheme completed 2018;
● Northern Corridor junction improvements: Manadon Road;
● Eastern Corridor junction improvements: Plymouth Road;
● Charles Cross Scheme;
● Forder Valley Link Road;
● Forder Valley Interchange;
● Morlaix Drive;
● Woolwell to the George update;
● Pomphlett to The Ride;
● major road network as announced by DfT for Plymouth;
● Plymouth’s MRN bid;
● large locals major bid: Manadon Junction.

Page 2



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 5 June 2019

The key areas of questioning from Members related to –

(a) the environmental impact of the Forder Valley link 
road/interchange schemes and whether mitigating actions had 
been taken to address these issues; residents had raised concerns 
that the natural habitat had been destroyed, rather than creating a 
new one prior to removing the old habitat;

(b) what measures had been put in place to improve communications 
regarding the Forder Valley link road/interchanges schemes, so 
that both residents and businesses were kept up to date on all the 
key stages of the schemes development;

(c) whether the trees fenced off by the Asda supermarket were part 
of the scheme;

(d) whether funding would be available for the Woolwell to the 
George scheme and if so, would this scheme be a priority for the 
Council;

(e) the feasibility of the City’s neighbouring local authorities 
contributing towards to the cost of the Woolwell to the George 
transport scheme, particularly due to the large number of houses 
being built on the City’s boundary;

(f) whether the Major Road Network (MRN) funding was modular 
or whether it had to cover the entire cost of a scheme;

(g) the eligibility of the Tamar Bridge to be able to submit a MRN bid 
for funding;

(h) whether as part of the modelling for major transport schemes 
consideration was given to whether the scheme would force 
additional traffic to use other parts of the highways network thus 
causing congestion in other areas.

The Committee requested that an update be provided to Members relating the 
eligibility of the Tamar Bridge to be able to submit a MRN bid for funding.

The Committee noted the strategic transport scheme update.

7. Transforming Cities Fund Programme Update  

Councillor Coker (Cabinet Member for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure), Paul 
Barnard (Service Director for Strategic Planning and Infrastructure) and Richard 
Banner (Transport Strategy Co-ordinator) gave a presentation on the Transforming 
Cities Fund Programme. 

The key areas of the report included –

Page 3



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 5 June 2019

● Transforming Cities Fund – overview;
● significance to Plymouth;
● achievements of tranche 1;
● timeline for tranche 2;
● future mobility zones.

The key areas of questioning from Members related to –

(a) whether the cycle scheme for Dawes Lane had been given priority 
within the programme of works;

(b) disappointment that not more work was being undertaken to 
encourage people to use the bus rather then drive;

(c) whether consideration had been given to permit electric vehicles 
to use the bus lane which could increase the take-up in the use of 
these vehicles;

(d) whether Tranche 2 of the fund could be used to fund a cycle lane 
from Plymouth to Yelverton;

(e) what enforcement measures were in place to prevent vehicles 
from parking across cycle lanes.

Committee requested that an update be provided to members relating to the 
following items –

● whether Tranche 2 of the fund could be used to fund a cycle path 
from Plymouth to Yelverton;

● whether the cycle scheme for Dawes Lane had been given priority 
within the programme of works.

The Committee noted the report.

8. Overview of Air Quality Monitoring in Plymouth  

Councillor Dann (Cabinet Member for Environment and Street Scene) and Nicola 
Horne (Environmental Health (Environmental) Protection Manager presented an 
overview of air quality monitoring in Plymouth which provided information on the 
current Air Quality Management Area, with particular reference to air quality in the 
vicinity of the Energy to Waste site which highlighted –

(a) air quality improvements had been seen in all the areas, since the 
introduction of an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) in 2014; the 
AQMA covered Exeter Street, Mutley Plain, Stoke Village, Royal 
Parade, Tavistock Road and connecting roads);

Page 4



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 5 June 2019

(b) emissions from road transport were the greatest cause of air pollution 
within the City;  the Council had a balanced transport strategy that 
sought to support the objective of cleaner and healthier air; the 
Council had produced a joint Air Quality Action Plan/Transport Plan, in 
order to implement various schemes to control traffic and pollution 
levels;

(c) in 2018, diffusion tubes were located in 24 locations (in accordance 
with Government guidance); other tubes were located for transport 
purposes to assess the impact of new or planned road schemes; the 
results of this monitoring had shown that air quality had been 
improving in most areas across the City;

(d) the Environment Agency regulated the operations undertaken by the 
Energy from Waste site and issued the facility with an Environmental 
Permit; the Environment Agency had reported that the site had 
performed well with no concerns regarding emissions to air;

(e) MVV Devonport Ltd undertook air quality monitoring of the potential 
impact of the site and were required to do so as part of the 
Environmental Permit and planning permission.

The key areas of questioning from Members related to –

(f) what processes were in place to consider air quality issues, as part of 
the strategic planning process and major transport schemes;

(g) concerns raised by the residents of Sherford, that traffic congestion at 
Stanbury Cross was causing air pollution in this area;

(h) how the results from the monitoring of air quality audited and what 
process was in place to investigate ‘spikes’ in the results;

(i) whether there was evidence to show that major transport schemes, 
such as the Forder Valley Link road/interchange, would reduce 
emissions and if this was being widely communicated;

(j) whether there was a communication strategy relating to the Council’s 
conflicting position of declaring a climate emergency whilst continuing 
to build new roads; the public’s perception was that by building new 
roads this was encouraging more pollution rather than reducing 
emissions;

Page 5



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 5 June 2019

(k) what extent was the national expectation for the increase in the use of 
electric vehicles incorporated into modelling for air pollution 
forecasting within the City;

(l) whether there was support/funding available from Central Government 
for air quality monitoring;

(m) whether there were any links to the mortality rates (due to air 
pollution issues) related specifically to the five areas contained with the 
AQMA.

The Committee requested that an update be provided to members relating to the 
possible link of mortality rates (due to air pollution issues) specifically related to the 
five areas contained within the AQMA.

The Committee noted the report.

9. Work Programme  

The Committee agreed to include the following items on its work programme (to be 
scheduled appropriately) -

● update on The Box;
● Creative Development Fund;
● Plymouth Sound National Marine Park;
● Brexit – Plymouth Ports;
● Mayflower update;
● Plan for Fishing;
● Brexit – new burdens;
● Plan for Homes – the first five years;
● Annual Housing Statement;
● Visitor Plan 2020 – 2030;
● City Centre BID renewal;
● High Street Fund;
● Joint Local Plan Authorities annual monitoring report;
● Climate Emergency Plan;
● Plan for Homes Three – update;
● Strategic transport programme;
● Plan for Homes; 
● buses (Select Committee Review).

The Democratic Advisor was requested to draft the Committee’s work programme 
and circulate to members for reference.

Page 6



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee Wednesday 5 June 2019

10. Tracking Decisions  

With regard to minute 45, Kevin McKenzie (Policy and Intelligence Advisor) 
reported that the letter had been drafted to the Chair of the Environment, Food and 
Rural Affairs Parliamentary Committee (Efra), outlining the concerns raised by the 
Committee relating to its scrutiny of the Brexit and environment report. However, 
Efra had published its report on Pre-legislative Scrutiny of the Draft Environment 
(Principles and Governance) Bill which had reflected the concerns of the Committee.

With regard to minute 45, the recommendations to Cabinet would be reviewed as 
part of the work programme item on Brexit – Plymouth ports.

The Committee noted the progress of its tracking decisions.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 1 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date:    17 July 2019 

Title of Report:  The Box Project – Programme Update 

Lead Member:   Councillor Tudor Evans OBE (Leader) 

Lead Strategic Director: Anthony Payne (Strategic Director for Place) 

Author: Caroline Cozens, Strategic Projects Manager 

Contact Email:   Caroline.Cozens@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference:  N/A 

Key Decision:   No 

Confidentiality:  Part I - Official 

 

Purpose of Report 

The purpose of this report is to inform the Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee of the progress of the Box Programme. This report will outline the work 

completed since the last scrutiny on the 5th September 2018. The report follows a site visit to the 

developing construction site on the 8th July 2019. 

Recommendations and Reasons 

To note the progress of the Box and to agree the Plan for Learning and Engagement. 

Alternative options considered and rejected 

None. 

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan   

Plymouth is Britain’s Ocean City and The Box will be a major contributor to our economy, local 

community and vibrant waterfront city. 

 

A GROWING CITY 

A vibrant cultural offer - The Box will transform the city’s cultural offer and create a flagship cultural 

centre for everyone in our city to engage with, be inspired by and to enjoy.  The proposals are aimed 

at stimulating and meeting the demand for a growing visitor economy in Plymouth, targeting a growth 

in the visitor numbers to the previous museum from 80,000-100,000 per year to 250,000 per year. The 

new service will be a national showcase for the delivery of cultural services and local community 

engagement.  The Box programme is being recognised as a cultural offer that is of local, regional, 

national and international interest in a city growing in importance, setting the direction for the South 

West. The opening of The Box in 2020 will create a national moment to reposition the city culturally, 

will create another reason for Plymouth to be a destination and will improve the city as a place to live.   

 

Economic growth that benefits as many people as possible - The Box is a high quality major 

redevelopment scheme that transforms a tired building and a back street into an impressive major 

landmark with a vibrant public square that will extend the cultural experiences outside of the physical 

THE BOX PROJECT- PROGRAMME UPDATE  
Brexit, Infastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 9 Agenda Item 6



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 2 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

building and be a focus for city life.  The project has delivered quality jobs and valuable skills in the local 

construction market with many local people gaining skills, new qualifications and work experiences.  

The Box will also impact upon the visitor economy where it is estimated it will support just over 500 

jobs in the tourism industry.  It is seen that The Box will motivate a skilled workforce in the 

construction, heritage and the visitor economy, both within the City but also the wider city region.   

 

A CARING COUNCIL 

A welcoming City- This project will create a safe place for children, young people and adults. The 

proposals will address existing shortcomings that are a barrier for some groups from entering a 

number of buildings that currently house the city’s cultural collections. For the first time there will be 

non-discriminatory access to Plymouth’s heritage. We will ensure that the galleries represent a range 

of voices and are truly inclusive.  The programme aims to focus on the work to develop Plymouth as a 

dementia friendly city. The project will transform the management and provision of an already 

outstanding arts and heritage offer for residents and visitors alike. The proposals will deliver an 

improved learning programme for schools and young people, and will focus on the communities in the 

city. 

 

The Box will: 

 Amongst others, offer exhibitions and services that focus on dementia, making it a dementia 

friendly location 

 Offer a safe location for children and adults to visit 

 Offer high specification facilities to boost the city as an inclusive community  

 Work constructively with audiences and stakeholders; it has reached over 100,000 people in its 

consultations  

 Adapt the Arts and Heritage Service to offer even higher quality services focused on local 

people and customers' needs  

 Develop new ways of working to reach wider audiences 

 Listen to people through consultation and respecting their wishes 

 Demonstrate that the Council is making decisions driven by citizen wishes 

 

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:     

The approved budget for The Box is £44.452m.  This is broken down into Capital (£40.531m) and 

Revenue (£3.921m).    

 

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications:  

None. 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty: 

* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the 

Council’s duty to promote equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations 

between people who share protected characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not. 

The current buildings used to store the collections are not fit for purpose and there are a number of 

health and safety matters that will be improved with this programme of investment. The construction 

projects for both the building and the exhibition involve a number of high risks, so it has been 

important that professional support has been appointed at all stages of the project to be mindful of the 

hazards. 

 

Page 10



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 3 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

Appendices  
 

Ref. Title of Appendix Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)  
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate  

why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A  

of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

A Briefing report (mandatory)        

B Engagement and Learning Plan (draft)        

C Retail Presentation        

D Governance Structure         

E Risk Register        

 

Background papers:  

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background 

papers are unpublished works, relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose 

facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the work is based. 

Title of background paper(s) Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 

is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.   

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

3 September 2013 Cabinet paper 
       

Published decision of decanting dated 31 July 

2015 

       

Published decision to appoint Atkins dated 10 

October 2014 

       

13 October 2015 Cabinet Paper 
       

Published Executive Decision 4 April 
       

Published Executive Decision 15 July 
       

8 November 2016 Cabinet Paper 
       

17 June 2017 Executive Decision 
       

9th October 2018 Cabinet paper 
       

5 September 2018 Scrutiny Report  
       

   

Sign off: 
 

Page 11

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.plymouth.gov.uk%2FmgInternet%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D2404
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.plymouth.gov.uk%2FmgInternet%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D2828
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.plymouth.gov.uk%2FmgInternet%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D2828
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.plymouth.gov.uk%2FmgInternet%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D2638
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.plymouth.gov.uk%2FmgInternet%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D2638
http://web.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.plymouth.gov.uk%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D2871
http://web.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.plymouth.gov.uk%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D2993
http://web.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.plymouth.gov.uk%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D3035
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s75093/20161108%20History%20Centre%20Cabinet%20Paper%20v0%2008.pdf
http://web.plymouth.gov.uk/modgov?modgovlink=http%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.plymouth.gov.uk%2FieDecisionDetails.aspx%3FID%3D3235
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s91591/20181009%20cabinet%20paper%20V0.09.pdf
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/s90717/20150905%20Scrutiny%20Paper%20v0.08%20final.pdf
prenderh
Typewritten Text



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 4 of 54 
OFFICIAL 

Fin pl.  Leg lt Mon 
Off 

NA HR Click 
here 
to 
enter 
text. 

Assets  Click 
here 
to 
enter 
text. 

Strat 
Proc 

Click here 
to enter 
text. 

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  David Draffan 

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes  

Date agreed: 08/07/2019 

Cabinet Member signature of approval:   

  
Date: 09/07/2019 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12

prenderh_1
Typewritten Text

prenderh_2
Typewritten Text

prenderh_3
Typewritten Text

prenderh_4
Typewritten Text

prenderh_5
Typewritten Text
Anthony Payne

prenderh_6
Typewritten Text

prenderh_7
Typewritten Text
pl.19.20.56

prenderh_8
Typewritten Text

prenderh_9
Typewritten Text

prenderh_10
Typewritten Text

prenderh_11
Typewritten Text

prenderh_12
Typewritten Text
MS/09.07.
2019

prenderh_13
Typewritten Text



Appendix A – Briefing report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 5 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

1. Introduction 

The purpose of this report is to inform the Scrutiny Committee of the progress of The Box 

Project. This report will outline the work completed since the last scrutiny in September 2018 and 

review how the project is progressing in advance of opening in spring 2020.   

 

2. Background 

2.1. The Box, originally known as the Plymouth History Centre, has been a key city priority since 

2013, when the Council decided to make a major Heritage Lottery Funding application to 

conserve and improve access to the city’s heritage assets, which was successful and 

subsequently received an award of £15.8 million. 

 

2.2. The Box brings together a unique combination of cultural partners and heritage collections 

including the City Museum and Art Gallery, the Plymouth and West Devon Record Office, the 

local history collections of the Central Library, the South West Film & Television Archive, the 

South West Image Bank, University of Plymouth (including the Arts Institute), the Naval 

Heritage Centre, the British Broadcasting Company and Plymouth College of Art.  

 

2.3. The Box project will create a major cultural statement and make a step change for the 
Plymouth cultural sector.   It will provide a new cultural attraction that supports the targeted 

increase in tourism in the city and the region, increasing visitor numbers from 80,000 to the 

old museum and art gallery to 250,000 per annum in a steady state.   

 

2.4. Even more fundamentally however The Box project will create a major heritage and cultural 

asset for the people of Plymouth reflecting their stories, their histories and their collections.  

 

2.5. Since the last Scrutiny report in September 2018 there have been some notable achievements: 

 

 Contracts have been signed for the exhibition fit-out with The Hub, for the interactives 

with ISO and for the Port of Plymouth model with Projection Artworks 

 The ‘Destruction to Construction’ exhibition at the House of Fraser continued to attract a 

large number of visitors, 55,000 in total by the time it closed in June 2019 

 The Contemporary Art Society awarded its largest national award to The Box at the Frieze 

Art Fair in October, enabling us to purchase works of art for our collections valued at 

around £100k. 

 The Arts and Heritage Service was discontinued and most of the staff re-employed within 

The Box but also other new talents recruited externally; new posts were created such as 

an Engagement Programmes Manager, a Volunteer Officer and a Sales and Information team 

Leader 

 SWFTA donated its entire film, video and equipment collections to The Box, also 

transferring its final reserves of £55k. 

 SWIB signed a 25 year loan agreement of all of its collections, which were safely moved to 

our temporary store for cataloguing and preparing for the move to The Box 

 Norman Hine bequeaths his whole estate (valued at £300k) to The Box for the support of 

naval heritage 

 The Box co-ordinated the delivery of over 100 events at this year’s History Festival 

 The Arts Council awarded £175k to the Wampun Belt exhibition 

 The British Film Institute novated its contract from SWFTA to The Box and awarded it 

£108k in 18/19; the BBC (£7k) and the University (£15k) similarly novated their contracts 

 The Box’s Learning and Engagement team have won two prestigious national awards for 

their work with local communities, embargoed until later in July. 

 

3. Learning and Engagement Programme 

Page 14



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 6 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

3.1. As members will be aware, the City Museum and Art Gallery has been closed for nearly three 

years, and during that time an ambitious community engagement programme (The Box on 

Tour) has been underway to test out ideas, consult on designs, reach out to new audiences 

and maintain our existing audiences. So far The Box on Tour programme engaged with 114,500 

individuals alone during 2017/18 and has reached a similar figure for 2018/19.  Some key 

highlights include:  engagement with 64 volunteers who have provided a total of 694.7 days; 

award for ‘Best Community Engagement’ and ‘Best Overall Archive’ by the National 

Community Archives and Heritage Group for Maker Memories; and the appointment of artists 

Grennan & Sperandio (www.kartoonkings.com) to undertake a series of documentary drawings 

of the ‘service’ industry at night in the city as part of the After Dark project. 

 

3.2. Funded largely by the Heritage Lottery Fund the Box on Tour community engagement 

programme has been underpinned by the creation of temporary venues until the Box opens in 

2020. The first opened in January 2017 on the ground floor of the Council House creating a 

temporary gallery for a programme of displays including the very popular At Home with Beryl 

Cook. And in January 2018 we opened a new display on the top floor of the House of Fraser 

attracting an average of 750 visitors each week – this is now closed as we get ready for move 

our collections and displays into the new Box building over the next six months.   

 
3.3. In May 2018 we opened a 3rd smaller object display inside Derriford Hospital’s main entrance 

and new Outpatient’s waiting room as part of the wider NHS70 programme.  We were given 

access to two giant poster cases which are replaced every couple of months with images from 

our collections with the strapline ‘Do you recognise..?’  The giant posters have proved 

particularly popular with staff and patients alike and are a useful promotional vehicle for us as 

the 2020 deadline approaches. 

 

3.4.  In addition to these venues The Box on Tour programme has also run three main strands: 

 

3.4.1. Community programme: four projects are currently underway designed to target a 

range of key Plymouth audiences and community groups.  

 

Maker Memories is a partnership project exploring a smaller corner of SE Cornwall that 

has existed as a military camp, a holiday camp for Plymouth’s and more recently an arts 

and cultural hub.  The Maker Memories touring exhibition is currently on display in the 

Page 15

http://www.kartoonkings.com/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 7 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

main reception at Maker Camp, ready for the start of the new camping season, and has 

been awarded ‘Best Community Engagement’ and ‘Best Overall Archive’ by the National 

Community Archives and Heritage Group.  

 

Plymouth after 

Dark is a major four 

year project that will 

result in a large 

exhibition at The 

Box in 2021-22. The 

project will again 

include oral history 

recordings, active 

collection of objects 

that reflect 

Plymouth’s 

fascinating and 

varied nightlife and 

explore the roles 
that support 

workers play in facilitating our nights out.  After an open call for contemporary artists to 

respond to a specific brief for the project, the artists Grennan & Sperandio. 

 

(www.kartoonkings.com) have been recruited to undertake a series of documentary 

drawings of the ‘service’ industry at night in the city.  

Dates are currently being confirmed with Simon Grennan and a range of locations across 

the city, such as nightclubs, restaurants and out-of-ours social services. We are also in 

discussion with the fire service. 

 

New elements are currently being developed, such as the development of schools 

resources in partnership with Thrive Plymouth and the Education, Participation and Skills 

department. We are also exploring opportunities for a collaborative music project with a 

professional musician and young people.  

 

Your Recipes, Your Heritage explores our eating habits and fashions over just the past 

century, using food as a medium for engagement.  

 

Plymouth Roots will work in partnership, potentially with Kew Gardens, to explore the 

city through its flora and fauna, often brought here from around the world. The project 

will offer a variety of opportunities for participants that will encourage positive outcomes 

on their health and wellbeing (complementing our existing Arts and Minds group for 

people living with dementia and their carers), alongside practical gardening support and 

shared experience. 

 

To kick start this partnership project, with a focus on the topic of Social Isolation, we put 

a call out via the University to find someone to undertake a piece of research around food 

heritage, particularly focusing on the 20th century. 

 

Page 16

http://www.kartoonkings.com/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 8 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

From powered eggs, through to the development of 

microwave meals this research is forming the bedrock of 

a two year programme of work which looks at how we 

can bring people together through food and favourite 

recipes whilst exploring how the use of technology can 

assist us in delivering our learning offer at The Box, to 

some of the most isolated.  

 

This partnership project joins CaterEd’s meals-on-wheels 

service with The Box, and will delve into the personal 

recipe books of the people of Plymouth to create some 

new and exciting heritage themed menus.  

 

The Your Recipes, Your Heritage project is also looking 

to tackle social isolation and create valuable 

opportunities for people of all ages to come together to 

share both meals and stories. 

 

3.4.2. Informal learning programme: the priority in this strand has been to test out and 
develop self-directed learning opportunities that will complement the emerging new 

collections-based galleries (see section 4 below). A key highlight for the last year was Keeper 

of the Light, which piloted a new approach to theatrical interpretation.  Falmouth 

University’s Academy of Music and Theatre Arts were commissioned to write and direct 

with a small cast of drama students a series of performances based on the history of 

Smeaton’s Tower and which was delivered on site.  The programme started in September 

2018 and culminated in a number of performances in May and June this year, providing a 

talent development opportunity for a range of drama and textile students who devised the 

central characters and created costumes with professionals based on collections from the 

Box – see link below. 

 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IqzEuhyLo4c 

 

3.4.3. Formal Learning programme: the 3rd strand is the development of a new schools offer 

for KS1-5.  Innovate Educate were contracted to undertake a two-phase consultation research 

programme – in phase one they worked with 29 Plymouth teachers and educators from KS1-

5. All teachers and educators interviewed talked of the balance between cost, quality, added 

value, practicalities and quality of facilities when making decisions about external visits.  Phase 

two developed the revised offer based on earlier findings and now also includes a new 

‘Masterclass’ offer: day-long experiences for pupils across multiple schools with a range of 

experts that will focus on raising aspirations for less engaged pupils and enriching the offer for 

talented pupils. . Three consultation sessions were delivered at BBC South West and Ocean 

Studios with a range of sector experts including RiO, dBs Music Plymouth and Wessex 

Archaeology, along with teachers and educators.  

 

Since September 2018 we have continued to engage with the Plymouth Teaching Schools 

Alliance to test and refine ideas for the new schools offer for The Box. The Box presented at 

the History Hub (Primary), on the proposed sessions that will be offered across all Key Stages, 

as well as the loan box service and online resources. All attendees responded enthusiastically to 

the proposed service. 
 

Beyond testing ideas with existing subject hubs in Plymouth, we have also initiated a new group 

of Teacher Ambassadors for The Box. This group brings together teachers who represent all 

levels of teaching – from Early Years Foundation Stage, through all the Key Stages (1-5) and 

Page 17

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=IqzEuhyLo4c


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 9 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

Higher Education – as well as a range of curriculum areas, including Science, Art and History. 

The Teacher Ambassadors project has been inspired by the Arts Council England publication 

‘Cultural Democracy in Practice’ (September 2018), and puts participation at the heart of the 

development of the schools service for The Box. The group supports teachers to play an active 

role in decision making about how they and their students can access the cultural offer available 

at The Box.  

 

Twenty-six teachers attended the first Teacher Ambassadors meeting in the Council House’s 

Reception Room, and an additional 20 are interested in taking part in the future. After the first 

meeting, teachers have fed back that they are excited to be involved in this opportunity: 

 

 “I just wanted to say thank you very much for the information that you and Adam shared with us at 

the first Teacher Ambassadors meeting yesterday – it was an inspirational first meeting.  I am really 

excited about hopefully contributing to the programme, and just generally super-enthusiastic about The 

Box and potential links with the schools service!” (Teacher, Eggbuckland Vale Primary School 

 

Four projects have been identified for the Teacher Ambassadors to participate in: 

 Reviewing a BETA version of the Learning Resources pages  

 Development of on-site facilitated schools sessions 

 Development of an ‘Objects that Speak’ loan box  

 Development of resources to support visits by students with special educational needs 

 

It is intended that sub-groups of teachers will be formed to address these four projects, and 

that these will be reported collectively to the Teacher Ambassadors at meetings every half 

term. 

 

Piloting of the new schools offer will continue during 2019 with a full launch in September 2020.  

 

A draft Engagement and Learning Plan is attached as Appendix B. 

 

4. Exhibitions 

4.1. Development of collection based galleries  

4.1.1. As members will be aware the local, regional, national and internationally important 

collections of The Box hold the content and stories that together describe the rich history of 

Plymouth and surrounding region and its impact on the wider world.  And these collections 

and their stories are being transformed into the following eleven collections-based galleries led 

by Event Communications, one of Europe’s leading exhibition designers: 

 

Event designed 

Galleries 

Description 

Mammoth Plymouth Visitors will investigate the natural world of 

Plymouth and the southwest from the Ice Age to 
the present day. A full sized woolly mammoth 

will greet you in front of a mass display case of 

collections reflecting the region’s vast diversity of 

life in the past and today, on land and in the sea 

Port of Plymouth  Visitors will be able to explore the last 3000 
years of Plymouth as a maritime port and the 

way it has grown into the maritime and naval 

port of today. It will explain the importance of 

Plymouth Sound, one of the deepest natural 

harbours in the world, to this important story. 

Page 18



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 10 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

Visitors will be able to explore Plymouth’s global 

trade that brought so much wealth into the city 

over 500 years ago, the importance of fishing 

that still continues to this day and the impact of 

the navy and its relationship with the city for 

over 300 years.  

100 Journeys Plymouth has been the starting point from the 

earliest days of exploration for an extraordinary 

range of journeys to the farthest reaches of the 

globe. This gallery tells the stories of Drake, 

Cook, Darwin, Scott and many others who have 

left the port of Plymouth and changed the way 

we see and understand the world  

Our Art  Visitors will be able to enjoy the ‘stars’ of the 

city’s art collection and explore different forms 

of creative expression in Plymouth and the 

Southwest through a programme of changing 

displays – a panorama of the Plymouth coastline, 

and a glimpse into the creative practice of four 

well-known artists are planned for 2020  

Mayflower Explore the national Mayflower exhibition which 

is assembling the one of the largest number of 

Mayflower artefacts and loans from across the 

UK and US ever assembled. Visitors will be able 

to read about the passengers and their journey 

from the UK to Plymouth Mass, and to 

understand the social, cultural and political legacy 

of the Mayflower story  

Media Lab  From the earliest innovations, Plymouth and the 

Southwest has been the focal point for media 

creativity. Using the largest film and television 

archive in the UK Media Lab will showcase the 

people who pioneer, create and experiment with 

film and media from the early photographic 

pioneers to the current digital creatives in the 

city 

Photo Album Using one of the largest photographic collections 

in the southwest visitors will be able to explore 

the ‘family album’ of Plymouth through changing 

thematic displays. This will be complemented by 

changing ‘take over’ display cases for different 

community groups who will give an insight into 

their personal stories and histories – 2020 will 

open with Maker Memories 

Memory Box Around the first floor balcony of the atrium will 

be series of ‘encounters’ of everyday objects that 

will trigger memories of day-to-day life in 

Plymouth.  

Active Archive Active Archives is an opportunity for visitors to 

discover the fascinating stories contained within 

the city’s archives – visitors can chart how the 

city grew and changed over time or see how the 

records and manuscripts can provide an insight 

Page 19



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 11 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

into the history of your family, your home and 

your surroundings.  

Cottonian Reading 

Room 

This modern take on a Georgian reading room 

will allow visitors to explore the breadth of the 

Box’s collections whilst surrounded by displays 

of objects from the Cottonian collection, one of 

the greatest gifts given to Plymouth.  

Figureheads Fourteen figureheads from one of the largest 

collections in the UK will be suspended in an 

iconic installation in the Box entrance, restaurant 

and shop. The largest of these figureheads, King 

Billy as he is affectionately known, will greet 

visitors on their arrival.   

 

4.1.2. Since the last Scrutiny report on the 5th September 2018 the major focus of the 

exhibition programme has been in the following main areas: 

 

 Continued development of the detailed graphic designs for each gallery with Event: we 

are close to signing off all detailed packages, and the subcontractors are in place to 

turn the design packages into artwork and print. A range of graphic prototypes were 

reviewed for quality on a recent visit to their subcontractors’ factory in Huddersfield 

in June 

 

 Review and sign-off on the technical drawings from our set designers, showcase 

designers, mount makers and model makers: we have been reviewing the thousands of 

technical drawings from the Hub detailing all aspects of each gallery – from the housing 

for a digital screen to the 60% scale model of the Mayflower wooden ship to the fur 

for the full-size woolly mammoth or the 3.5m high showcases for 100 Journeys. Each 

gallery has had many hundreds of technical drawings for review to ensure that the 

main fit-out contractor delivers the quality and design that we have contracted them to 

provide. As with the graphics, we’ve also visited the showcase subcontractors’ factory 

in Ghent and the set designers’ factory in Redditch to test the quality and design of 

their work. 

 

 Development of the gallery digital interactives with our software designers: significant 

progress has been made in the last six months – we are in the design phase for all 

interactives with some now in the detailed design stage and others still in concept. In 

addition filming has already begun for a few of the projections in the Mammoth gallery 

but the majority are scheduled for July, August and September 

 

4.2. Temporary exhibition programme 

4.2.1. Mayflower400: Legends and Legacy (Spring 2020 to September 2021) 

Created in partnership with the Wampanoag Native American Advisory Committee, and 

with the help of over 100 museums, libraries and archives across the UK, US and 

Netherlands, it will present an epic journey of survival and imagination.  We are just about 

to sign-off the detailed design for all graphics; we have seen and commented on a 

prototype of a section of the Mayflower ship; we have reviewed and commented on an 

early prototype for the way the Mayflower passengers will be represented; Design 

development is underway for both the agreed manual and digital interactive. And most 

critically we have now secured all 250 loans from lending institutions, making it the biggest 

loans show Plymouth has ever done, and one of the biggest in the UK.  And many of them 

will be leaving the US for the very first time. 

Page 20



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 12 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

 

4.2.2. Wampum: stories and shells from Native America (early September to end 

October2020) 

Led by The Box this is a national touring exhibition and will be the first commission from 

Plymouth to acknowledge our cultural connection to the Wampanoag people who met the 

Mayflower and ensured the survival of the new English settlers.  Central to this show will 

be a new Wampum belt made exclusively by the Wampanoag people of the Mashpee and 

Aquinnah nations, and commissioned by The Box. Work is now well underway and is 

scheduled for completion by the end of this calendar year. This commission is in response 

to the British Museum’s large historic wampum belt collection, and it was confirmed three 

weeks ago that they have agreed to lend up to five belts from their collection to support 

this touring show. All four partner venues are now confirmed. 

 

4.2.3. The Another Crossing exhibition, (November 2020 – January 2021) being developed 

with the College of Art and the Fuller Craft Museum near Boston, features work by artists 

such as Sonya Clark, Jasleen Kaur and Jeffrey Gibson. 

 

4.3. Contemporary Art Programme   

4.3.1. The contemporary art programme aims to take an enmeshed and integrated approach 

to the collection based galleries and temporary exhibition programme (of which it forms part) 

in order to bring the historic collection to life for modern audiences while providing a high 

quality platform for international emerging and established artists to show their work. These 

exhibitions will give artists the opportunity to work with elements of the existing collection to 

tell stories influenced by contemporary life – from selfies to surfing, skyscrapers to sneaker-

heads, migration to multimedia immersive installations. These initiatives will take a collegiate 

hub-and-spoke approach to working with other cultural organisations and spaces in the city of 

Plymouth, such as The Arts Institute (University of Plymouth), The Gallery (Plymouth College 

of Art), KARST and Market Hall 

 

4.3.2. Numerous internationally renowned artists have already visited The Box to carry out 

site visits and to a person have been impressed with the ambition of the project. These include 

Leonor Antunes – who represented Portugal at this year’s Venice Biennale, Brazilian artist 

Alexandre da Cunha, Royal Academicians Rachel Whiteread and Tim Shaw, French artist Alice 

Anderson, Austrian artist Eva Grubinger and Plymouth born Wolfe von Lenkiewicz. John 

Akomfrah - who represented Ghana at this year’s Venice Biennale, Italian artist Maurizio 

Anzeri and Sheffield based British painter Ryan Mosley will also be attending The Box over the 

coming weeks. All have exhibited their works in major museums and have works held in 

important public and private collections worldwide. 

 

4.3.3. Of the group of artists that have visited The Box, most have presented proposals for 

inclusion in the exhibition programme and two have been commissioned to make new work 

for the fabric of the building and The Box’s permanent collection:  

 

4.3.4. Leonor Antunes has been commissioned to make a new centre-piece fused glass 

window for St. Luke’s church; the design of which takes inspiration from the end pages of one 

of the many beautifully made C19th books from The Box’s and Plymouth’s Designated 

Cottonian Collection.  

 
4.3.5. John Akomfrah has been commissioned to make a new three channel film which will 

take inspiration from the rich history and mythology of the Mayflower’s voyage from Plymouth 

to Massachusetts to establish the Plymouth colony. An act that has become a cultural icon in 

the history of the United States as well as having significant consequences for the Wampanoag 

Nation and native North American people as a whole. The Work will be unveiled as part of 

Page 21



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 13 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

the Mayflower 400 commemorations and open in St Luke’s Church where it will be exhibited 

in 2020  and remain in The Box’s collection as a permanent legacy of Mayflower 400.  

 

4.3.6. A notable recent acquisition for The Box is the first film by renowned African American 

painter Kehinde Wiley. Narrenschiff (Ship of Fools) which was acquired by the museum through 

the Contemporary Art Society as recipient of CAS’s prestigious Frieze Fund Award. This film 

also touches on themes of migration and identity and will form part of The Box’s opening 

exhibition programme.  

 

4.3.7. Plymouth will be one of the four cities (alongside Aberdeen, Manchester and 

Wolverhampton) hosting The British Art Show (BAS9) in 2021. This will be a major across the 

city initiative held at The Box, The Arts Institute, The Gallery and KARST in collaboration 

with Hayward Gallery Touring. 

 

4.4. Figureheads 

 

4.4.1. The figurehead conservation project is the most significant of its kind in a generation and 

not only secures the future of the Devonport figureheads, but identifies The Box as a centre 

of excellence and innovation for the preservation and display of maritime heritage, with one of 

the largest collections of figureheads in the UK.   

 

4.4.2. The challenge of conserving the figureheads has been significant and complex.  The true 

extent of the repairs needed was only really fully understood when each figurehead was 

stripped back.  This is when internal rot was discovered in the central cores of many of the 

figureheads.  Water had got into surface cracks penetrated through to the central timbers 

which were soaking wet.   For many of them this involved drying out and treating the timbers 

whilst the damage was so far gone in some of them, this required cutting out the worst 

sections and substantial carving in new sections of timber. Other interventions have included 

steel rods through the timber structures to brace old and new timbers together.   This 

extensive amount of conservation work has created a cost pressure on this part of the 

programme.   

 

Page 22



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 14 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

4.4.3. The ambitious aerial display concept has compelled teams of conservators and structural 

engineers to develop innovative solutions to overcome the challenges of decay on a grand 

scale.  3D modelling and CT scans have enabled conservators to create complex but elegant 

structural mounts, with each figurehead secured in place with only 3 cables to create the 

effect of a fleet of carvings floating in space. This suspension of the figureheads from the 

concrete box in the sky is unique across the world. 

 

4.4.4. This best-practice model for the conservation, interpretation and re-display of the 

figureheads is now being shared with international partners to develop a joint tourism product 

to increase visitors to The Box and promote Plymouth’s wider maritime heritage. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 23



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 15 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

 

5. Construction Contract 

5.1. Progress 

5.1.1. The construction contract was let to Willmott Dixon in June 2017 following an enabling 

work period. The contract has recently been rephrased due to construction delays from 
abnormal conditions on site requiring additional work to St Luke’s Church as well as the 

former museum and Library buildings.  These abnormal conditions requiring additional work 

have included: 

 Underpinning of foundations in the original main building and waterproofing works as 

water has been penetrating the structure at below ground level 

 Works to the North Hill Façade where capping stones were lose and at risk of failure 

 Structural problems to the old Library  

 Balcony support structure in St Luke’s church inadequate and requiring new 

foundations and structural reinforcement to support the balcony safely. 

 The Tower of St Luke’s Church in very poor condition 

 Additional conservation works in St Luke’s church including items such as the stained 

glass windows, lead work, stone repairs and the old lime mortar rending.  

 Asbestos and needles found in the ground to the south of St Luke’s Church and 

contaminated tarmac all requiring specialist removal and disposal.   

  

5.1.2. Additional work has a knock on impact to the work programme by extending it.  

Willmott Dixon have work with us to rephrase the programme to mitigate these delays.  This 

has enabled sections to be handed over to enable the fit out programme to start whilst 

separate construction areas remain safely active.  The revised phase of work and with their 

anticipated hand over dates are as follows: 

Page 24



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 16 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

5.1.3. We took procession of phase on the 2nd July and the fit out contractor – The Hub were 

handed the keys on the 3rd July.  

 

5.1.4. Progress on site can be viewed at any time through the web cam that can be accessed at 

the following link Site web cam. You will see from this that all of the external finishes have 

been completed to the double cantilever archive and its finish you can really see this distinct 

pattern of the four different finishes of tile.  Notice also the optical illusion of the acute angle 

on the Box.  It appears as a square corner of a box with the wall below at an angle. In truth, 

the wall is square and the corner of the box is an acute angle. The archive is of course still to 
be loaded with over 1 million records and artefacts.  Now the scaffolding has been recently 

removed you get an excellent view of the Plymouth Limestone walls beneath the archive as 

well as the glazed space that will house the Figureheads, café bistro and retail offer.  You can 

also see the space where the terrace and approach to the box will develop in the final phases.   

 

5.2. Change 

5.2.1. The design development on site has also been higher than would have been predicted. 

The design team with the contractor identified a number of provisional items that, at contract, 

were provisional sums because the design in one way or another was not detailed enough to 

fully price. Provisional sums are priced and agreed as works on site progress. There have also 

had to be a number of construction design changes to accommodate the fit out programme 

design including the location of power and data, changes to lighting and a number of additional 

works to display and store the pickles (specimens in formaldehyde). There have also been 

Phase  Works Forecast 

Completion 

1 The refurbishment and alteration of the old 

museum buildings. 

1st July 2019 

2 The refurbishment of St Luke’s Church  3rd September 2019 

3a The wow space  20th August 2019 

3b Library extension 30th September 2019 

4 Library refurbishment, external works and 

public realm 

9th December 2019 

Page 25

https://plymhearts.org/thebox/project-news/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 17 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

changes to the design, layout and equipment for the catering offer.   The amount of design 

development and under estimation on the project has proved significantly higher than 

expected.  

 

5.3. Costs 

5.3.1. The refinanced construction contract sum was approved as £26,371,335 with a 

contingency set aside not shared with the contractor.  The Quantity Surveyors, Faithful & 

Gould, prepare a monthly cost report that offers an anticipated final account figure, based on 

the instructions and potential changes that the contract administration team are aware of. 

These reports track change and contract liability due to the abnormal, client, exhibition design 

and architectural matters. There remains significant cost risk due to the ongoing construction 

works and the works are current forecasting a final account very close to the top of the 

contingency figure. This will be carefully monitored however there is limited ability to fully 

control these costs when they are related to abnormal conditions. Any additional cost 

pressure will be dealt with by additional service borrowing. 

   

5.4. Construction Social Impacts 

5.4.1. To date Willmott Dixon have delivered the following through the construction project: 

 11 work placements for people within education 

 11 jobs have been created through the NSAFC (National Skills Academy for 

Construction) 

 21 people have gained industry certification across the site workforce  

 Willmott Dixon have linked with the Prince’s Trust to support learners on their 

journey into employment. In May, WD collaboratively delivered the Future Steps 

into Construction programme aimed at 18-30 year olds who are looking for work 

in the industry and who are currently unemployed and not in training or education.  

 WD have facilitated a work placement for Kat, a 20-year-old girl who had 

completed her Level 1 & 2 in carpentry a few years ago but has been unemployed 

since due to her lack of practical experience. She was worried about working on a 

construction site as she felt intimidated by the male dominated environment. WD 

have since placed her with their carpentry supply chain partner Bob Barry for a 

work placement (one day a week, going up to 2 days a week) and she is now 

looking to start an apprenticeship in September. 

 Young Devon (largest young people’s charity in the South West): WD have 

delivered careers talks to their learners on the Work-based Learning and the 

Independent Life Skills course. One of their learners, who has learning difficulties 

and is currently working with a support worker from the Council, will be doing a 

work placement at the Box. He will be working alongside the site stonemasons. 

 WD have facilitated a work placement alongside TClarke for a candidate from the 

Jobcentre who was looking for an electrical placement. 

 WD delivered a careers talk for Year 10 students at Stoke Damerel Community 

College on 22nd May as part of their school engagement for the Building Plymouth 

initiative. 

 WD are sponsoring a £5k Elmer sculpture for Elmer’s Big Parade (8th July – 15th 

September) which will be situated between the College of Art and the Roundabout 

pub outside The Box. The sculpture will be auctioned off after the parade and the 

money will be donated to St Luke’s Hospice Plymouth.  

 The School of Engineering will be using the outside space at the Box for an outline 

design project in the first semester of the next academic year. The focus will be on 

sustainable infrastructure. Pete Herrod-Taylor from Atkins will support the 

project. 

 

Page 26



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 18 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

6.  Service Restructure and Organisational Change 

6.1 Phase 1 Staff Restructure: Senior Management Posts 

6.1.1. To achieve a step change in the cultural offer required a substantial restructure in 

staffing for the Arts and Heritage Team. At the beginning of April 2018, an interim CEO (Paul 

Brookes) was appointed to begin, amongst other tasks, the restructure of staff. The first 

appointments were to create a senior management team of three posts. 

 

6.1.2. These three posts were discussed and agreed with the Arts Council England as major 

funders of the service, who also helped with recruitment of the right candidates: 

 Head of Contemporary Arts – Nigel Hurst, ex CEO of Saatchi Gallery 

 Head of Business – Kate Farmery, ex Executive Director of Torbay Culture 

 Head of Heritage, Art and Film – Nicola Moyle, ex Head of Heritage and Arts of 

Plymouth City Council 
 

6.2. Phase 2 Staff Restructure 

6.2.1. The vision behind the restructure was to have the very best team across a number of 

inter-related areas of expertise: collections development and display, contemporary art 

exhibitions and commission, public engagement, learning and research, commercial 

development, marketing fundraising, business operations and administration. 

 

6.2.2. The structure also recognised that it needed to be strengthened to deliver its 

considerable responsibilities that cover not just the operations of The Box but also those of 

the historic houses (Smeaton’s Tower, Elizabethan House and Merchant’s House), the city’s 

strategic role for the development of arts and heritage, and also the ongoing management of 

Mount Edgcumbe, which was outside the scope of the restructure. 

 

6.2.3. The structure also recognised that the best team could also be achieved by being flexible 

about the number of hours an individual might wish to commit to. 

 

6.2.4. Consultation on the second phase of the staff restructure was launched on 19 July 2018 

and continued until Expressions of Interest were invited from the Arts and Heritage Service 

on 11 November.   

 

6.2.5.  All internal interviews were completed by 17 January 2019 and then posts still 

remaining vacant were externally advertised. 

 

6.2.6. All internal candidates started their new roles on 1 April 2019. 

 

6.2.7. The staff complement of The Box is 63 full time equivalents (FTE), of which 46 FTE were 

filled by 54 internal candidates, 16 of whom who are contracted to work less than 37 hours. A 

number of posts remain vacant and will not be recruited until nearer the time of opening, 

especially in relation to front of house duties. 

 

6.3. Organisational Development  

6.3.1. As part of embedding the changed vision, values and culture of the new institution, two 

away days were held in April and May 2019. 

 

7. Governance 

7.1. The establishment of a senior executive team for The Box, supported by a wider management 

team, required the governance structure to be updated for the transition period in which the 

capital project is being completed and the emphasis moves towards operational delivery. 

Page 27



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 19 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

 

7.2. Detailed workstream leads report into the Senior Management team of The Box, who then flag 

any issues for resolution at the Programme Board, chaired by the Senior Responsible Officer 

for the Council, David Draffan. 

 

7.3. The revised Governance chart is attached as Appendix 2 

 

8. Reload 

8.1.1. ‘Reload’ is the programme of activity that is planned over the last 12 months of 

programme up to opening in 2020. This is possibly the most challenging part of the 

programme for the service as it requires the public facing activities to go dark as the 

collections are moved from their current locations into the new facility. This includes the 

exhibition artefacts that require unpacking cleaning and mounting in their new cases. 

 

8.1.2. ‘Reload’ will bring well over a million objects from 9 different locations around the city 

and involve the dismantling of the systems, including IT, that support these collections. This 

must be done in a way that tracks every object so that at no point is any object unaccounted 

for. It is a systematic move that needs to be planned like a military operation! 
 

9. Plan for Opening   

9.1.1. With around 9 months before opening, it is essential that the Box Programme has a 

significant new focus on operations.  A comprehensive plan for opening has been drawn up to 

ensure we are Box-ready in Spring 2020, drawing on the Head of Business’s experience of re-

launching Manchester Art Gallery and The Whitworth.  It focuses on: 

 

Our visitors 

 Effective marketing, PR and community engagement to engage residents (especially Plymothians 

who have never been to a museum before, families and students); draw tourists (particularly day 

visitors) to the city and create that ‘national moment’ to put The Box and Plymouth firmly on the 

map as a leading creative centre.  We’ll start with a teaser – a giant hoarding on the North Hill 

façade of the building – before ramping up activities from September and rolling out a major 

countdown-to-opening campaign in January. 

 The launch of a new The Box website from September. 

 A new offer for group visits, which has already resulted in significant bookings including two large 

groups of Disney Cruise passengers. 

 Impactful signage and wayfinding – we’ve secured the support of Holmes Wood, nationally 

renowned for their wayfinding schemes in Tate Modern and the V&A, to design and implement a 

scheme which ensures visitors can find and easily recognise the building and are welcomed and 

orientated effectively. 

 Transport planning, in collaboration with partners across the city, to tie in bus and rail services and 

refurbish the nearest car park, Regent Street. 

 The introduction of a new ticketing and customer relationship system, which will facilitate quick 

and easy ticket sales (online and in person) and transform our ability to interact with visitors and 

commercial clients. 

 

Our staff 

 Recruitment and comprehensive training of a crack team of uniformed visitor services, sales and 

information staff. 

 Relocation of all Box staff into the Box building. 

 

Our income 

Page 28



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 20 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

 Selection of a skilled catering partner to fit out and deliver our vision for The Box’s bistro bar, 

Tavistock Square street food and catering for private hire events and parties. 

 The fit out and launch of The Box shop, with a wide range of distinctive and Plymouth-focused 

merchandise and a new EPOS system to facilitate effective sales and performance management. 

 The launch of our venue hire business, to encourage lucrative reception, dinner, conference and 

meeting bookings – NB bookings for approx. ten major events have already been taken, before we 

are actively promoting. 

 The introduction of charging for touring blockbuster shows – Plymouth Residents will be able to 

access for free in 2020. The Box will remain free to entry. 

 The launch of a Box Members scheme to complement the existing Friends’ scheme and maximise 

membership income. 

 The design, manufacture and installation of contactless donations points throughout the venue. 

 Fundraising from trusts and foundations; wealthy individuals; sponsorship and gallery naming, 

beginning with the finalisation of a three year deal with Babcock. 

 

Our building 

 The introduction of comprehensive ICT, telecoms, facilities management and security systems and 
maintenance plans, in collaboration with the relevant PCC departments and Delt. 

 

10. Funding 

10.1. The latest approved budget for The Box is £44.452m and reflects an ambitious 

investment in the City for growth, culture and innovation.  This is broken down into Capital 

(£40.531m) and Revenue (£3.921m).  Expenditure to the end of June 2019 is £30.649m and 

this represents 68.9% of the total budget.  The grant income has been very successful, with 

grants received from Heritage Lottery, Arts Council England, Coastal Communities, European 

Regional Development Fund, Garfield Weston and the Wolfson Foundations, in total £22.9m 

of capital and one off revenue, which pays for the construction, exhibition and current activity 

plan to replace the museum service while closed. A Further £4.1m revenue over 4 years has 

been agreed through Arts Council England (ACE) as The Box was re-designated as a National 

Portfolio Organisations (NPO) in June 2017.  

 

10.2. Whilst the project remains within its current funding envelope, abnormal site conditions 

continue to be found causing additional calls on the remaining contingency- such as a 

significant amount of Asbestos and needles found in the ground to the south of St Luke’s 

Church requiring specialist removal.   Specialist conservation work of the figureheads has also 

exposed additional cost pressures with many of the figureheads found to have their internal 

core structures in much worse conditions than surveys identified.  This has resulted in 

significant additional work to rebuild and conserve properly these treasured heritage assets.  

The budget is being carefully controlled, monitored and forecast to project completion 

however it should be noted that there is little ability remaining to offset unplanned cost 

pressures. Any pressure will be dealt with by Service borrowing. 

 

11.  Revenue Budget 

11.1. The revenue budget for The Box has been agreed with the Arts Council for a four year 

period as part of its funding agreement and takes it through to March 2022, the end of the 

second financial year after opening. The Arts Council is increasing its grant from £875,000 in 
2019/20 to £1,198,000 for each of 2020/21 and 2021/22. 

 

11.2. The Box total turnover is £4m+ and expenditure balances with income received, based 

on a number of assumptions around commercial income, which have been interrogated by 

independent consultants, Fourth Street, and re-interrogated by another set of consultants, The 

Seeking State. 

Page 29



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 21 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

 

11.3. The key areas of commercial income are retail, catering, exhibition admission charges 

and corporate venue hire. 

 

11.4. The business model is based on a percentage share of turnover being received from an 

external catering contract; of the retail shop being delivered in-house; of The Box being free 

but special exhibitions having a charge for everyone except local residents; of spaces both 

internal and in the piazza being available for corporate hire. 

 

11.5. The Box galleries will be open to the public 6 days a week (closed on Mondays). On 

Mondays The Box will be open to school visits and corporate hires. The opening hours of the 

bistro bar are yet to be determined in negotiation with an external caterer but are envisaged 

as being able to be open 7 days and evenings per week.  

 

12. Risks 

12.1. As expected of a project that has strategic benefits, there are a number of risks that the 

Council is taking in delivering such a large and complex project. 

 
12.2. It has been widely accepted from its inception that a project that seeks to make a step 

change in the cultural experience of the city will have a sizeable price tag; and the Council has 

been very successful in gaining external funding support for the venture.  However, it is right 

that the Council is also funding a proportion of the cost and remains in a position where it 

stands behind the outcome costs of the project.  

 

12.3. The Council is therefore holding project risks whilst we complete the build programme 

and fit of both the galleries and other spaces within the building.   There has been risk with the 

conservation of the figureheads and the design and development of the hanging method.   The 

current biggest risk is the pressure on the current agreed funding when risk turn into project 

issues and additional cost is required to mitigate the issues.  The project also holds a 

reputational risk that the outcome of the programme meets expectations. This has been 

mitigated with a very strong cross party member involvement in the programme throughout 

its design development, and now construction period.  

 

13. Timescales 

13.1. The driver for the programme is to have the visitor experience open for the spring 

season in the year of 2020, in time for the Mayflower celebrations. This is a fixed deadline that 

imposes constraints to the contract delivery of the buildings and exhibitions. 

Page 30



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Page 22 of 54 

OFFICIAL 

 

13.2.  Construction delays have resulted from various abnormal conditions found on site.  

This included elements of St Luke’s church, and parts of the old library and museum.  This has 

resulted in additional works required which have naturally taken extra time.  The impact of 

these construction delays has resulted in rephrasing the construction to hand over in four 

stages.  This has enabled us to overlap the construction and fit out contracts to remain on 

track for our opening date. We have also had to overlap parts of the exhibition fit of with 

when we move into the building in January and start the operational parts of the plan for 

opening including staff training and soft opening.  Whilst overlapping will come with challenges 

we remain currently on track to achieve our original opening date of spring 2020.  It should be 

noted that the pressure on the programme is high and any additional delay from here on in 

will be very difficult to mitigate. 

 

13.3.  In early autumn the programme will need to be reviewed to understand if the opening 

date is on track and can be publically confirmed.  This will start our countdown to opening as 

we build excitement and anticipation for opening The Box.   

 

14. Conclusions 

14.1. The Box Project has reached a major milestone where parts of the building are now 

being handed over by Willmott Dixon, the building contractor, to the exhibition fit-out 

contractor, The Hub. It is also now only 9 months before The Box opens to the public. 

 

14.2.  The Plan for Opening has great detail on operational issues such as health and safety, 

duty manager rotas, IT systems etc. It is also putting in place the marketing campaign that 

launches in the autumn and reaches out to local residents and the wider world that The Box is 

coming soon! And it is free! 

 

14.3.  The Box Visitor Services and Sales and Information teams are preparing for the influx of 

visitors and looking forward to offering them an experience they won’t forget and will want to 

revisit again and again. 

 

14.4. The Box’s Engagement and Learning Team are reaching out to schools and those hard 

to reach communities in Plymouth, for whom The Box may become a source of inspiration for 

future generations. 

 

 

 

Page 31



Appendix B – Engagement and Learning Plan (draft) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 32



Learning and Engagement Plan 

 

We believe that museums have an important role to play in people’s lives. They enhance health and wellbeing, create better places to live and work 

and they inspire engagement, debate and reflection1.  

 

We want to create experiences which offer the excellence expected at a national museum here in Plymouth. We want to make sure that The Box 

is not only a great place to visit for the people of Plymouth and the South West (and offers plenty of experiences that give visitors a reason to 
return again and again) but that it is also recognised as a ‘must-visit’ cultural destination for people nationally.  

 

As a publically funded organisation we also have a duty to guarantee access and inclusion for everyone, including those least likely to participate in 

cultural activity. Our unique offer of world class collections in purpose-built spaces will place learning and engagement for everyone at the heart of 

our work and ensure our relevance as a museum in the 21st century. 

 

The Engagement Programmes Team plays a key role in the individual engagement with, public perception of and sector-wide awareness of The Box. 

Together we: 

 

 Create opportunity for everyone to experience moments of creativity and discovery, to learn and to have fun 

 Respond to issues of social justice, working with underrepresented communities to redress imbalances of access to, and participation in, 

culture 

 Address societies contemporary challenges by working in partnership to deliver real difference in people’s lives and alleviate pressure on 

other public services (for example with initiatives that address issues such as dementia, loneliness and mental health) 

 Remove barriers to participation, whether they are sensory, intellectual, attitudinal, cultural or financial 

 Build our audiences of tomorrow by capturing young people’s imaginations today 

 

We will achieve this across 4 strands of programming which focus on activity by, with and for families, schools, young people and communities. 

 

We are focused on delivering relevant and meaningful activity that offers people outstanding experiences which are sector-leading and 

sustainable. 

 

The next steps ahead of opening are set out below: 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
1 Museums Change Lives, Museums Association 

P
age 33



 How we will do this What this will look like  Action 

 

relevant & 

meaningful 

activity 

 

Our work is collections 

/commissions/ 

exhibitions based. We 

respond directly to the 

opportunities that The 

Box afford us 

 

 

We will ensure reflexive 

practice by ensuring 

processes for evaluation, 

self-reflection and sector 

benchmarking. 

 

 

 

New programmes and projects respond to The Box’s 

opportunities including: 

- Families Programme 

- Schools Programme 

- Young Peoples Programme 

- Community Programme 

 

 

We will track and monitor our work to make 

evidence based decisions on future programming.  

 

We will evaluate our work to understand              

- what works and why,  

- what could be improved and how  

 
 

 

 

All 4 programme strands finalised by 31st October 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CH to determine remaining MHM evaluation 

consultancy focus by August 2019. 

 

AM to gather base-line of data from PCAGM, 

Museum on Tour ready for comparison upon 

opening 

 
EPT reports delivered to programme board 

quarterly from opening. 

 

Evaluation plan (including ref. to Insights and Impact 

Toolkit) for EPT by January 2020 ready for soft-test 

(Feb- April 2020) and opening 

 

 

outstanding  

experiences 

 

Ensuring equality, 

inclusion and access 

exists across our 

programmes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Participation from a range of under-represented 

groups in the co-design of programmes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Ongoing) Consultation, proto-typing, testing or co-

design with the following groups completed by 

September 2019  

2 x Disability groups, 2 x Schools, 2 x Special 

Schools, 2 x Protected characteristic groups 

2 x Dementia groups, 2 x Families offer 1x 

Volunteers 

 

 

 

P
age 34



Our experiences are 

unique, hands-on and 

participatory 

 

We will use the following frameworks to sense check 

the experiences we offer:  

- Generic Learning Outcomes 

- Quality Principles 

 

 

 

EPT to benchmark and sense-check against 

Plymouth-wide offer for their activity strand. (How does 

our family offer compare to the theatre or aquarium for example?) 

 

EPT to arrange soft-tests (February – April 2020) 

with a minimum of 3 user groups per Families, 

Schools, Young People and Community offer. 

 

 

sector-

leading 

 

We follow the principles 

of cultural democracy.  

 

 

 

 

We will seek 360 degree 

feedback on programme 

development and delivery 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

We will programme work 

that is risk taking and 

ambitious in scope 

 

 

We will work in dialogue to understand and address 

the needs of families, schools, young people and 

communities co-designing and tailoring our offer to 

ensure its relevance for the people of Plymouth. 

 

 

We will ensure programme design and decision 

making is led by EPT staff expertise, co-designed and 

developed with key partners/communities/ people 
with lived experience as relevant to the programme 

area.  

 

We will put EPT activity forward for regular scrutiny 

review, and approval by Box leadership  

 

We will actively communicate EPT activity with 

colleagues across The Box. 

 

 

We will seek opportunities to work with colleagues in 

learning and engagement teams nationally 

 

Stella Duffy (leading national thinker in cultural  

democracy) to meet EPT team 27/06/19 

 

 

 

 

EPT Programme Plans (Families, Schools, Young People, 

Communities, Volunteers) shared for feedback with: 

 Programme Board by 31st October 2019 
 

 SLT Team Meeting by 30th September 2019 

 

 5 x briefings for colleagues across 

departments November 2019 – February 

2020 

 

 

 

 

CH to scope partnership opportunities with learning 

and engagement teams nationally 

 

sustainable 

 

We will work in 

partnership. 

 

 

 

 

We will collaborate with a range of partners where 

priorities align in order to share resources or 

maximise impact for visitors and participants.  

 

 

 

(Ongoing) CH to seek advice on key PCC departments 

and external partners on shared agenda. 

 

 

 

P
age 35



We will take proactive 

steps to ensure EPT 

financial sustainability. 

 

 

 

 

We will create a spectrum across our offer of free 

and ticketed activity to ensure the sustainability of the 

programme  

 

We will seek financial support for our work 

All EPT to ensure spectrum of activity from free to 

donations to ticketed across their planning. 

 

 

CH to liaise with KF, AN, LW on individual giving 

ladder (including a special focus on Schools and 

Dementia activity). 

 

CH to draft fundraising needs to share with LW  

 

Engagement Programmes Team Activity: From Now – Opening 

Phase 1 

July – October: Designing and developing the programmes                                     

The four programme strands are currently in development, design of this will be completed by October with opportunity for feed-in by key 

stakeholders/partners as appropriate during this design phase. This will also include working with colleagues as part of the Public Programming 

Taskforce (see below). 

 
Phase 2 

October – February:  Marketing and promoting the offer 

We will work closely with the marketing team to co-design a marketing plan across the programming strands. (The exception to this will be the 

Schools Programme, whose marketing will begin in early September to better coincide with schools booking times) 

 

Phase 3  

February – April: Agile Testing 

We will be soft testing the offer in the learning and gallery spaces between February – April, enabling us to ‘hit the ground running’ immediately on 

opening. This will include at least 3 soft tests across each of our Families, Schools, Young People and Community Programmes and see us work 

closely with the operations teams to ensure the best possible visitor experience. 

 

We will also run short evaluation tests across these activities, enabling us to take an agile approach and continue to refine the visitor experience up 

until delivery. We will use three user groups per activity in order to establish a benchmark from users.  

 

Income and Expenditure  

The Engagement and Learning Team has an income target of £20,000 for year one and £25,000 for year two.  

 

The budget set for the Engagement and Learning Team in 2019/2020 is £84,583. We have allocated £36,871 to our Community Engagement 

programme, £29,900 to our Schools programme and £17,700 to our Families, Early Years and Young People’s programmes.  

 

P
age 36



Public Programming Taskforce 

The Engagement Programmes Team (EPT) has also convened a Public Programming Taskforce (PPT) so that learning and engagement is embedded 

across the breadth of the visitor experience and we will be establishing a cohesive offer of talks, tours, special events linked to the audience 

development plan (ADP). The PPT, convened of staff from across departments, are meeting on 4th July. 

 

Programme Overview 

 
The Learning and Engagement activity is split into 4 programming strands. These will offer a mixture of free and ticketed activity to support the 

sustainability of the programme.  

 

1. Families Programme 

 

We have appointed Beth Hart as Engagement Officer for Families who will start in July 2019. She will continue activity initiated by Charlotte Gunn 

to develop a cohesive family programme with a mixture of self-directed and facilitated sessions from drop-in activities to special family events.  

 

A draft family programme will be ready for review by 31st October. Proposed activities include: 

 

Proposed Family Activities For Development Costs Self-Directed Facilitated  

Weekly Parent and Child Session 

(For children under 5 and their carers) 

Ticketed   

Gallery Trails Free   

Explorer’s Bag TBD   

Drop in activities Free   

Family workshops Ticketed   

Special Family Events   
(e.g. For example events such as the Family Rave – to be determined with the PPT) 

Ticketed   

 

We will establish The Box as a family-friendly destination, we are using the Kids in Museums manifesto and working with the marketing, operations 

and commercial teams to ensure a cohesive approach to marketing our offer, ensuring outstanding visitor experience and commercial opportunity 

across activities. 

 

We will be applying for the national Kids in Museums Family Friendly Award in May/June 2020 and Hoop Awards 2020. 

 

 

 

 

  

P
age 37



2. Schools Programme 

 

The Core Schools Programme and Artist Educators Programme will deliver a series of facilitated schools sessions for all ages between EYFS-KS5 

(including for pupils with SEND). The schools programme has been developed in consultation with the Teachers Ambassadors network which 

comprises 53 Teacher Ambassadors from around 30 schools across Plymouth and the surrounding areas 

 

The sessions will be focused on the National Curriculum, providing structured sessions for learning across a variety of subject areas such as art, 
history, geography and STEM subjects.  

 

The combination of both a new building and new model of charging presents a challenges in accurately predicting numbers of school visits, however 

given timetabling constraints for both schools and our Learning Space we predict we could deliver up to 228 facilitated sessions per year potentially 

reaching 6,840 school children. This equates to an average of 6 school visits per term-time week.  

 

In addition to the core schools programme there will be 15-20 online resources covering topics from STEAM, Prehistory, World War I and II, 

Slavery and Abolition, through to Contemporary Art. These online resources, free for schools and colleges to use, will support schools taking part 

in self-directed visits as well as embedding learning both pre and post visit.  

 

22 schools loan boxes which cover topics from Mummification to African Instruments will be available to hire. 

 

Our schools programme includes: 

 

School Activities Costs Self-Directed Facilitated  

Facilitated Sessions £3.50 per student   

Self- Directed Visits Free   

Loans Boxes £20 per week   

Online Resources Free   

Teacher CPD Offer Free   

 

Schools will be contacted in September to promote bookings. Bookings will be made via the webpage in the first instance, with a call-back from the 

team (as managed when the museum was previously open). Once Tessitura is in place from January 2020 bookings will be made through the online 

system enabling us to capture a range of data about school visits.  

 

We will RAG rate our schools programme to identify and monitor schools engagement and the interest in our offer. Recognising that charging for 

our schools programme will be unaffordable for some, we are exploring offering a number of school bursary places to schools most in need 

covering the cost of transport and participation. 

 

We will be applying for the Sandford Award, which recognises excellence in museum and gallery education, in May – June 2020. 

P
age 38



3. Young People’s Programme 

 

Our Young People’s Programme will deliver a series of opportunities for Young People to be inspired by the contents of The Box, produce a 

creative response to the collections, exhibitions and archives and develop their skills. These hands-on, creative sessions for young people will help 

develop practical skills and increase knowledge around a number of subject areas including design, architecture, music and art.  

 

The programme will include ticketed workshops (currently in development these will test a range of activity and price points to gauge interest) for 
activity such as photography, film and other creative outputs. 

 

A draft young peoples’ programme will be ready for review by 31st October. Proposed activities include: 

 

Proposed Young Peoples Programme Costs Self-Directed Facilitated 

Competitions Free   

Young Peoples Workshops Ticketed   

HE/FE Visits including supporting MA Archive 

Studies module 

TBD   

Student Offer (TBD with PPT) Free   

Work Experience/ Placement Free   

 

 

We will be working in partnership with HE instituitions to develop a compelling student offer which supports the development of new skills and 

experiences for students as they move into the workplace and that also makes Plymouth a compelling place to study and live. For example, we are 

considering how we might support a students programming group who could use our collections to respond to current international issues such as 

activism around climate change or decolonisation and more locally, urban regeneration and social inequalities.  

 

We will also build on the model of performance interpretation that has been developed with Spice Box, Rope Walks and the Keeper of the Light 

performances working with city-wide and regional performing arts partners. This will see us work with performing arts students to devise and 

perform new work which bring collections to life for audiences including creating a new visitor experience at the Elizabethan House. 

 

 

4. Community Learning Programme 

 

Adult Learning Workshops 

These are bookable workshops for adults, facilitated by freelance practitioners and occasionally an Engagement Officer. These workshops will be 

delivered in the Learning Space. They will enable adults to explore the collections, exhibitions and commissions within The Box, through practical 

art and craft activities. We will programme 6 workshops in 2020/2021, rising to 12 sessions in 2021/2022 if the initial offer is successful.  

 

P
age 39



Women’s Traditional Craft Group 

The Women’s Traditional Craft Group forms part of our Health and Wellbeing offer and has been operating for 10 years. It is open to women 

from all backgrounds. The group undertakes projects with and for The Box, often based on collections and exhibitions and also regularly produces 

work for donation to local and national charities. Although ostensibly a ‘knitting group’ the group performs a vital social link for many isolated older 

women. The group receives participants via mental health referrals and many are bereaved or suffering long term health problems. These sessions 

run once a week and are delivered by a freelance practitioner with support from an Engagement Officer. 

 
Arts and Minds 

Arts and Minds forms part of our Health and Wellbeing offer, delivered via regular life enhancing, creative workshops for people living with 

dementia and their carer’s. This regular programme makes a wide reaching and positive contribution to Plymouth as a Dementia Friendly City. 

Previous evaluation and research studies suggest that Arts and Minds has made a positive impact in the improvement of cognition function, memory, 

creative thinking, enjoyment of life and relationships between people living with dementia and their carer’s. These sessions run once a month and 

are delivered by a freelance artists with support from an Engagement Officer.  

 

We intend to build upon our expertise for delivering creative interventions for people living with dementia by working with HE providers (who 

have previously expressed interest in this work) teaching these skills to students participating in health and social care courses. 

 

Plymouth After Dark 

Plymouth After Dark is a flagship community engagement project which works with some of the most underrepresented and hidden communities 

across the city. The project has the potential to be nationally significant for the museum sector which in turn would support our ambition to 

establish ourselves as sector-leading.  

 

This five year project explores the city when the lights go down, through people, places, stories and objects. We believe in the importance of 

museums, art galleries and archives to promote, reflect and value culture and to act as agents for personal, social and cultural change. This project 

aims to contribute to this through the programming of opportunities for meaningful engagement, significant audience development, relevant 

contemporary collecting and ambitious risk-taking opportunities through a variety of means. It will result in a major exhibition at The Box in 2021. 

 

We will increase the visibility of The Box nationally by raising the profile of this project across the sector for example profiling the project at 

conferences and highlighting the impact to key funders. 

 

Maker Memories 

Maker Memories is a community engagement project which explores the history of Maker Camp (in South-East Cornwall) since the 1920s - when it 

became a holiday camp for school children from Plymouth – to the present day use as a music and arts venue.  

 

The project aimed to create a community archive collection of both digital and physical stories, images, documents, film and ephemera. These have 

been highlighted on a community-lead website, social media channels and a touring exhibition in community venues. 

 

P
age 40



Maker Memories will be the first community exhibition on display in The Box in 2020. 

 

Your Recipes, Your Heritage 

Your Recipes, Your Heritage is a community engagement project with the aim of reducing isolation and loneliness in older people through historic 

recipes and food. The project is delivered in partnership with CATERed through their community meals-on-wheels service, utilising a researcher 

specialising in food heritage. 

 
From memories of using powered eggs and rationing, iconic local delicacies such as pasties, through to the development of microwave meals this 

research formed the basis of a two year programme which looks at how we can bring people together through food and historic recipes.  

 

Your Recipes, Your Heritage will be the second community exhibition on display in The Box in 2020/ 21, alongside a publication featuring 

community-sourced local recipes. 

 

A wrap-around programme of talks, tours and more linked to exhibitions and key calendar moments will be planned with the Public Programming 

Taskforce. 

 

Loans Boxes 

6 community loan boxes which cover topics from ‘Out on the Town’ to ‘Gardening’ will be available to hire. 

 

Mayflower 400 Community Development 

The Mayflower 400 projects are supporting over 60 community-led projects across Plymouth including targeting 12 ‘cold spots’ identified by PCC 

Public Policy unit as having the lowest engagement. This work has supported individuals across a broad spectrum of cultural activity investing in local 

community leaders and with communities commissioning artists to work with them. The programme supports our remit to work inclusively with 

diverse communities. Recent evaluation for Vital Sparks (the model upon which Mayflower 400 Community Sparks continues) found that 41% of 

projects have involved working with people or groups with protected characteristics. 

 

The success of the programme has seen us continuing to build a foundation of grassroots community supporters for The Box across Plymouth. This 

programme has also seen us play a key role in strengthening and improving communities, offering opportunities to bring people together in new 

ways and contribute to the ecology which supports Plymouth as a great place to live and work.  

 

Volunteering 

 

We are planning how we will recruit both new and existing volunteers to support The Box across a range of functions from opening.  

 

This will include consultation with diverse groups to initiate interest and design volunteer roles accordingly as well as offering a breadth of 

opportunities for volunteers responding to changing volunteering demographics and motivations (for example family volunteering, remote 

volunteering, volunteering for wellbeing and inclusion and ensuring a balance of front and back of house roles). We are exploring how we support 

P
age 41



volunteers through induction and training as well as enable volunteers to lead activities where appropriate. We will also be capturing the impact of 

volunteering at The Box and the difference this makes. 

 

South West Film and Television Archive 

We will integrate the use of the film archive across all of our programmes (for example with archival footage used within our loans boxes, as part of 

our Arts and Minds sessions and as part of school visits) as well as continue to use archival footage for marketing/social media feed purposes (short 

clips, GIFs etc). 
 

The embedded use of SWFTA across our work responds to many of the key themes and interests of the BFI such as increasing young audiences 

aged 16 – 30, seeking archival programming opportunities and maximising inclusion and diversity. 

 

Special Programmes: 

Mayflower 

We will deliver a comprehensive programme to support the public exhibition programme and associated contemporary art commissions and 

exhibitions. This will include facilitated sessions, online resources and a loans box for ‘Mayflower: Legend and Legacy’, facilitated sessions and online 

resources for the associated ‘Kehinde Wiley – Narrenschiff’ exhibition, facilitated sessions and online resources for the associated ‘Another 

Crossing’ exhibition, facilitated sessions and online resources for the associated ‘Another Crossing’ exhibition, facilitated sessions and online 

resources for the associated ‘John Akomfrah’ exhibition and facilitated sessions, a masterclass and online resources for the associated ‘Wampum: 

Stories from Shells of Native America’ exhibition.  

 

We have commissioned Made By Katie Green to a deliver a contemporary dance and heritage programme to provide meaningful cultural 

experiences and develop new, and more diverse, audiences as part of a national project ‘The Imagination Museum: Mayflower 400’. Performances 

will be delivered in public locations across the city (including The Box’s piazza) and a supporting engagement programme will be delivered at 

Coombe Dean School in Plymstock, with opportunities for primary schools and the wider community. 

 

We have also supported Theatre Royal, Plymouth’s ‘Journey’s’ project, part of their wider ‘Transatlantic’ community theatre project for Mayflower 

400. This entailed the delivery of four heritage workshops on the history of the Mayflower voyage, which were delivered to over 50 people by our 

Learning Officer alongside Dr Kathryn Gray from the University of Plymouth. These workshops were designed to provide the heritage background 

of the Mayflower story to individuals who would like to participate in the Journey’s performance in June 2020. These workshops enabled our 

Learning Officer to pilot resources that will be used in the Mayflower schools session when The Box opens. 

 

British Art Show 9 

We are awaiting confirmation of the British Art Show 9 programme so that we can create a fitting learning and engagement offer. We envisage this 

will encompass all of our strands of activity: Families, Schools, Young People and Communities as well as create new volunteering opportunities. 

 

P
age 42



Appendix C – Retail presentation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



SHOPPING THE BOX

Plymouth Museums Galleries Archives

theboxplymouth.com

P
age 44



NAUTICAL

Port of Plymouth

Our Art

P
age 45



EXPLORATION

100 Journeys

Active Archive P
age 46



NATURAL HISTORY

Mammoth P
age 47



ART & CREATIVITY

Our Art

P
age 48



NOSTALGIA

Media Lab

Memory Box

P
age 49



MAYFLOWER

Legend & Legacy

400 Commemorations P
age 50



PLACE

City of Plymouth P
age 51



Plymouth Museums Galleries Archives

theboxplymouth.com

Visit theboxplymouth.com

Follow @theboxplymouth on 

Find us on            too 

THANK YOU

For more information contact Ian Cooper, Business Manager, The Box

ian.cooper@plymouth.gov.uk | 01752 304595

P
age 52



Appendix D – Governance Structure 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



The Box, Plymouth Project Management Structure Chart 2019-2020

Executive Decisions through PCC Democratic Process

Shadow Board
Chair: Leader of the Council
Role: Management of Vision & Strategy
Led by: Interim CEO
Frequency: Meet every 2 months

Revenue Funders

Contract Delivery
Chair: Programme Manager

Frequency: Meet every month

Building Development
• Building and public realm design
• Look and feel
• Land and building leases 
• Contract administration.

Exhibitions Development
• Content development
• Conservation
• Management of MASS
• Reload planning and management

Atkins Event

Willmott-Dixon The Hub

Delt Furniture

Arts and Heritage Delivery
Chair: Head of Contemporary Art & Head of 

Heritage, Art and Film
Frequency: Meet every month

Creative Programme and Delivery
• Contemporary Arts
• Heritage and Film
• Programmes
• Engagement and interpretation plan
• Collections
• Conservation
• Digitisation
• Acquisitions
• Marketing Interface

Stakeholder Forum
Chair: Service Director of ED (SRO)
Role: Partnership Engagement
Led by: Interim CEO
Frequency: Meet every 3-5 months

Programme Board
Chair: Service Director of ED (SRO)
Role: Delivery of Project
Led by: Programme Manager
Purpose: Decisions, actions and scrutiny
Frequency: Meet every month

Capital and one off Revenue Funders
SLT Group

Chair: Interim CEO
Frequency: Meet every week

Organisation and Leadership
• Revenue budget
• Staff structure
• Business Plan
• Fundraising
• Programming
• ICT
• Advocacy
• Partnerships

BMT Group
Chair: Interim CEO

Frequency: Meet every 2 weeks

Delegated Management
• Contemporary Arts
• Collections
• Engagement
• Operations
• Commerce
• Marketing

Staff

Plan for Opening
Chair: Head of Business

Frequency: Meet every month

• Hard/Soft FM
• Security
• ICT
• Public Realm
• Transport
• Staffing Resources & Training
• CRM & Ticket Sales
• Marketing & Communication
• Launch Events
• Retail
• Catering
• Venue Hire
• Wayfinding
• Donations

PCC Health & Safety

Delt

Transport Provider

Holmes Wood

PR/Marketing Agencies

PCC Facilities Management

Delt PCC Health & Safety

PCC Facilities Management

PR/Marketing Agencies

P
age 54



Appendix E – Risk Register 

Page 55



The Box Risk Register
RISK REF Date raised

Date last 

amended POTENTIAL RISKS IDENTIFIED Mitigation RAG COMMENTS LEAD CHAMPION Group

Board

business

Construction

Design Risks Design

PHC 006 May-2015 Jun-2019 Union opposition to governance and staff proposals.
Arrange early engagement with key unions set up regular contact meetings 

advanced of consultation.
4 4 16 2 3 6 3 3 9

Previously, agreed approach with members with a positive 

union meeting taken place with new staffing structure now 

in place.  The contentious issue of 7 day a week contract 

not a part of restructure consultation and therefore 

requires progress in the second half of 2019 ahead of 

opening.

PB DD Board

PHC 010 May-2015 Nov-2016  Fatigue, stress, resilience and long term sickness of project team.

Adequate resources, staff taking leave allocations, reasonable workloads, 

supportive environment open to discuss difficult challenges, staff support 

mechanisms, PAM assist etc.

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

CLOSED in Nov 2016.  RE-OPENED post the death of a 

key project team member and the long term sickness of 

another.  Often related to outside of work stresses and 

pressures that could be further exacerbated by the length 

of time the project has been going and the significant 

amount of change ahead around reload and getting ready 

for opening.  Stress risk assessments to be reviewed and 

updated with action plans if required. 

PB DD Board

PHC 013 May-2015 Jun-2019 Failure to keep the partnership in place.
Maintain close relationship regular information meetings and real 

involvement.
4 5 20 2 5 10 1 5 5

Governance issues occurred with to the signing off of HLF 

contracts all agreement agreed in principle . Transfer 

agreements signed  Staff transferred only the loan 

agreements remain outstanding.

PB DD Board

PHC 020 May-2015 Jun-2019 Failure of construction work streams to meet time scale deadlines.
Ensure all work streams are resourced with the right people and have good 

programme management to track progress.
4 5 20 2 3 6 3 4 12

Now a project issue and we have experienced a number of 

delays.  Whilst most have been mitigated the delays to 

installing utilities have created a 6 week delay to handover 

of LAMB.  This has created a delay to the fit out contract 

which we are working to mitigate.  Impact on reload and 

other parts of the project being understood.  Further delays 

still possible and whilst we will work to mitigate the risks to 

the original opening date now need to be reviewed and 

understood.  Prompt resource availability to deal with RFIs 

and CCFs needed to mitigate this pressure.  

CCz PB Board

PHC 021 May-2015 Jun-2019
Failure to meet the targets of visitor attraction affecting the business model and 

income generation.
Develop a useable business model that can be senior tested. 4 4 16 3 4 12 4 5 20

Business plan developed and now The Box commercial 

team now in place to further develop.  Recent work on 

Food and Beverage is also a challenge to ambition and cost, 

first procurement process failed, negotiated process 

underway but is a significant risk with national pressure in 

the F&B market squeezing the middle.  Decision point in 

early August to understand if any bidders likely or move to 

running in house.   Income generation targets £300,000.  

Need a tax efficient gifting model in place to harness 

donations and a clear offer.  Currently only one approach 

to fund with a verbal commitment.  

KF PB business

PHC 022 May-2015 Jun-2019 Control of the project and independent reporting to PCC.
Appoint experienced PM and professional QS on a technical team and 

appoint an independent reviewer. 
4 5 20 3 3 9 3 3 9

for procurement reasons the contractual relationships 

couldn't be changed so the PM and the QS remains 

appointed through Atkins, however a lot of PCC effort has 

gone into developing and  maintaining the relationship with 

the technical team. 

CCz CCz Design

PHC 023 May-2015 Jun-2019 Poor design and construction; leads to high maintenance and lifecycle costs.
Make quality a high element in the contractor procurement and employ a 

CoW.
3 3 9 2 2 4 2 2 4

Appointing WD as a very high quality contractor has 

reduced this risk right down, COW in place to identify any 

significant defects or poor workmanship- only minor 

elements identified and quickly rectified.  FM team have 

been engaged but currently some further action is required 

to put maintenance schedule in place by FM post handover

IC CCZ Construction

PHC 025 May-2015 Jun-2019

Unable to achieve the design quality for a gateway scheme from the funding 

envelope.

Early discussions with planning, and a very clear understanding of the 

financial model as to the affordability. Appointed Atkins to review the look 

and feel and coordinate the different design details.
4 4 16 2 3 6 3 5 15

Project refinancing in October 2018 to tackle cost 

pressures over funding envelope.  Potential Value 

engineering exercises to remain in cost envelope or seeking 

additional funding as cost increase to deliver the design 

quality. Amber rating due to current cost pressures over 

the current funding envelope. 

CCz DD Design

Initial RISK 

RATING

CURRENT RISK 

RATING
Rating following 

mitigation

Construction Risks

Board Risks 

Business Risks

Page 1 June 19 Risk Register

P
age 56



The Box Risk Register

PHC 026 May-2015 Jun-2019

Delays and conditions placed through Planning. Early engagement through pre-app process and allow time to contractor to 

make detailed application.

4 5 20 3 3 9 2 4 8

Planning approval received. Ongoing liaison with Planners 

needed to discharge key Conditions. Particular concern 

over attenuation risk increasing while awaiting for technical 

reports. Risk raised as Planners not allowing any VE items 

so cost pressures are being cased by the planning authority. 

Panning have been generally very supportive, however there 

remain conditions in place until each are discharged via 

inspections of both historic listed building work or other 

work listed in planning conditions. 

Atkins CCz Design

PHC 028 May-2015 Jun-2019

Relocation of parking becomes difficult to achieve. Develop a car parking strategy with transport.

4 4 16 2 3 6 5 3 15

Initial Engagement with Darren Stoneman to review. Agreed 

through planning and wasn't an  issue with the temporary 

road closure. However agreement with highways over the 

contractors parking was an issue eventually over come. Risk 

reduced as A&H vacated the Annex parking to allow the 

contractor to park but PCC parking has not been resolved. 

Long term quality of parking for opening still an issue.

CCz CCz Design

PHC 029 May-2015 Jun-2019

Contaminated land found in areas of excavations. Undertake desk top study and plan ground investigation study.

3 4 12 2 3 6 3 5 15

Key risk area is the former workshops to the rear of St 

Luke's. LQA written on information available, tests 

undertaken when demolition complete foundations in for 

extension so risk much reduced, remains in until public 

realm reduced level did taken place.- NOW A PROJECT 

ISSUE. IMPACT ON COST. Atkins CCz Construction

PHC 031 May-2015 Jun-2019

Major underground services traversing site, under estimation of costs to divert 

them.

Review main Statutory Undertakers drawings highway in the road.

4 4 16 4 2 8 2 3 6

Services better understood, however difficult site. Robust 

allowances needed in Cost Plan. Risk were increased as we 

approach construction and investigations were not 

completed, but now lowered as M&E designs more detailed 

and services resolved. Major sub and super structure work 

now complete with connections in for civils works, 

therefore unknowns reduced. Remains a risk as public 

realm still to be completed.

Atkins CCz Design

PHC 032 May-2015 Jun-2019

Site contains protected ecological species that will affect programme delivery. Review/Update existing Phase 1 Habitat survey.

2 3 6 2 2 4 1 3 3

Bat licence for works received and surveys complete. Risk 

reduced now works underway. Small residual risk of bats 

returning during construction.

Atkins CCz Design

PHC 033 May-2015 Jun-2019

Topographic and surveys not accurate or out of date. Survey update, risk of errors remains.

3 4 12 2 2 4 3 3 9

Risk limited as most opening up works are complete. Risk 

remains for the culvert works and works to the node. 

Atkins has advised event to undertake their own surveys to 

mitigate risk.

Atkins CCz Design

PHC 034 May-2015 Jun-2019

Archaeology present on the site that affects programme delivery. Undertake survey early.

3 4 12 2 2 4 1 3 3

Desktop study received, watching brief may be required. 

Cost to be reviewed in Stage 4, surveys complete and 

reduced level dig in St Luke's complete so risk reduced. Risk 

remains until public realm done. As work has progressed 

risk has reduced, only areas un-discovered are within public 

realm.

Atkins CCz Design

PHC 036 May-2015 Jun-2019

Flood risk assessment delays project, adds significant cost, basis of calculations 

queried.

Undertake this work early. Assume worst case (attenuation and green field 

site run-off) in costings. Liaise with Planners.

3 4 12 2 4 8 2 3 6

Planning Conditions received relating to 

drainage/attenuation. Been investigated by Atkins. SWW 

considering if they would do mitigation work to the Phase 2 

culvert part of the project. Phase 2 of the culvert omitted 

from the project but this increases the risk that SWW will 

insist on works as a follow up project immediately affecting 

opening. Culvert works split at Tavistock Place handover 

point. New risk created as 3rd party contractor now 

responsible for lower works, and if they build it incorrectly 

we will have to adapt to suit.

Atkins CCz Design

PHC 037 May-2015 Jun-2019

Noise assessment and noise complaints. Undertake this work early. Make conservative assumptions in the initial 

design and costings.

3 4 12 2 2 4 2 2 4

Atkins have completed a noise assessment for planning. 

Issues for 41 Tavistock road and construction resolved. No 

issues throughout the site works and the bulk of the noisy 

work complete. Residual risk remains.

Atkins CCz Design

Page 2 June 19 Risk Register

P
age 57



The Box Risk Register

PHC 041 Jun-2015 Jun-2019

Finding more asbestos than expected. Undertake warranted surveys in conjunction with item 60.

4 4 16 2 3 6 1 3 3

Team to highlight any remaining risk following surveys, 

which reported minor amounts that were removed. 

Asbestos found in underfloor heating system in the library 

causing delay and cost. Risk lowered now demolitions and 

strip out complete, but remains not closed as there could 

be services in the public realm to discover. This will be an 

ongoing risk until the end of the MEP works / handover to 

the fit out team, each month risk reduces. PROJECT ISSUE 

AS FOUND IN THE GROUND AT REAR OF SLC. 

REMOVED BUT WITH COST IMPACT. Atkins CCz Construction

PHC 047 Jul-2015 Jun-2019

Failure of the project creating reputational damage to council and partners. Retained commitment of partners and clear understanding of the 

development of the project through each stage of the project, with clear 

communication strategy.

4 5 20 3 5 15 3 5 15

Risk placed on the Councils Strategic Risk Register. Major 

funding achieved. Political support to letting construction 

contract. Public support maintained, however the cost and 

time overruns could lead to a changed perspective. Risk 

raised due to cost and time pressures. PB AP

Board

PHC 048 Jul-2015 Jun-2019

Failure to maintain cross political support for the project. Retain briefings on a cross party basis, report to scrutiny, maintain cross 

party representation on the Client Stakeholder Board.

4 5 20 3 4 12 1 2 2

Political change appears not to have impacted on the 

project. Recent cabinet papers secured cross party support 

and regular scrutiny briefings ensures the project remains 

on track. Full cross party support remains strong. PB DD

Board

PHC 050 Jul-2015 0114/06/2019

Failure to be commercial in the proposals and the business model unable to 

balance the proposed expenditure

Specialist Commercial team now appointed under the leadership of 

experienced Head of Business who has sector experience.

4 3 12 3 3 9 3 4 12

Current risks around Food and beverage offer as original 

procurement process failed to secure a concessionaire. 

Now undertaking negotiated procedure. Need to review in 

July 2019 if we are likely to receive new bids in the new 

process. KF PB business

PHC 051 Jul-2015 Jun-2019

Quality of the product not good enough to prove an attractive venue. Keep stakeholders engaged on the design meetings to monitor decisions 

taken on VE and exhibitions.

4 5 20 3 4 12 2 4 8

Stakeholders have reviewed the Event concepts through out 

the design review period, most exhibition detailed design 

completed, risk around quality and expectations of AV 

content. Quality of the end product of the building but also 

operational aspects. Atkins look and feel approved and 

details on galleries more understood. Whole leadership 

team accountable. BLT PB business

PHC 054 Jul-2015 Jun-2019

Over-heating, poor humidity control and poor environment conditions in the 

existing galleries and spaces; as air control is not effective in these areas.

Modelling of the spaces to understand the impact and develop temporary 

strategies to put in place on the odd days when environmental impacts are 

severe. 5 4 20 3 4 12 2 4 8

Environmental control systems have been installed and now 

require testing and balancing.  Risk of perception cannot be 

tangibly be measured. Atkins KB Design

PHC 056 Jul-2015 Jun-2019

Shelving and conditions in the archives is not good enough to store all 

collections.

Very careful auditing, and development of proposals, testing of shelf layouts 

in developing designs, appointment of shelving specialists

5 3 15 4 3 12 4 3 12

Archives nearing completion.  Additional storage in the 

basement has reduced the risk however detailed discussion 

on the lifts reveal that some items to be taken to the 

archive will not go in the lift meaning some larger items will 

be stored in the basement. Currently investigating the final 

finishes to the archive in the sky as no paint or sealant finish 

has currently been specified  CCz NM business

PHC 057 Oct-2015 Jun-2019

Overlap of contractor and exhibition; creating interface. Early programming of the handovers and understanding how the existing 

buildings might be handed over earlier.

3 4 12 3 2 6 4 3 12

WD has created a 4 stage handover programme to enable 

the fit out programme to be on site in phases - mitigating 

construction delays. This creates two separate sites. Fire 

stopping and fire access and alarms in place to enable two 

sites to work in tandem. Weekly site meetings to discuss 

deliveries and potential programming conflicts.  

CCz PB business

PHC 061

Jan-2016 Jun-2019

Changes to the brief and scope creep. Adversely impacting on the cost of the 

scheme.

Tight Change Control needed with QS liaising closely with designers to fully 

understand the impact of changes to enable the client to approve in good 

time.

4 4 16 4 3 12 4 4 16

Change control remains tight and coordinated with the 

contractor. Risk has continued due to changes requested by 

3rd party consultants Event, JOH etc. It's had large knock 

on effects on both detailing and programme. Change 

control process whilst providing good paper trail of changes 

has proved to be cumbersome and as such has resulted in 

delays with an impact on project programme or budget. T 

Clark has used these changes as reason that designs couldn't 

be undertaken/completed. This issue has been compounded 

by the changes driven by the catering and retail, look and 

feel and figureheads. New Head of Contemporary Art 

requested temporary removal of bridge and staircase in SLC 

for works of first artists and continues to request further 

changes.   CCz PB

PHC 062 Jan-2016 Jun-2019
Design changes to schemes to meet operational needs are unacceptable to 

Conservation Officers as part of the listed building status.

Continue discussion with Conservation Officers/consultees on the 

proposed changes and rationale. 3 4 12 2 3 6 1 3 3

Residual risk still exists due to nature of project but has 

reduced due to level of detail and ongoing conversations. 

Atkins KP Design

Page 3 June 19 Risk Register

P
age 58



The Box Risk Register

PHC 063 Jan-2016 Jun-2019

Slow or late design information to the cost consultants and contractor. Atkins and F&G to liaise closely to make sure information flow is managed. 

WWA are appointed to manage the information flow and instructions. 

Weekly client interface to chase information.

2 4 8 2 2 4 3 3 9

Main issues with missing design information were in 2018 

with most of this now resolved. However, Atkins are often 

slow to provide design information for RFIs and CCFs with 

matters being chased over multiple monthly meetings. It is 

frustrating that there is still outstanding design information 

as we are in the final stages of the build.  

Atkins CCz Design

PHC 064

Jan-2016 Jun-2019

Structural integrity of existing floors unable to support exhibitions. Additional costs allowed for secondary steel to support floors. Challenge 

Event to make designs suitable for floor loadings.

4 4 16 3 3 9 3 3 9

Intrusive investigations took place in the enabling works  

linked to PHC 060 DR. Surveys are now complete and 

Atkins SE have discussed with Event and the Event 

proposals have taken account the structural limitations. 

Therefore, this risk has reduced, however in Event's 

Detailed Design it has become apparent that Event haven't 

taken account of the limitations. Therefore, structural 

reinforcements solutions are necessary and risk has 

increased. Resolution to the majority of the heavy load 

exhibitions have now been resolved  (figureheads all now 

hung, pickles reduced in number and cannon case reduced 

in size) and therefore risk reduced. ISSUE: 

Mammoth/Pickles exhibition floor being resolved but 

requiring additional costs unknown if a programming 

impact.
Atkins CCz Design

PHC 066

Jan-2016 Jun-2019

Figureheads need restoration before they can be used.

Noted: could be considered a 'funding' and 'Stakeholder' risk too.

Commissioned conservation report on the figureheads. Have them 

inspected by specialist structural mount makers and dedicate a conservation 

member of staff to this matter.

4 5 20 3 3 9 5 5 25

ISSUE - The condition of the figureheads continues to be 

much worse than envisaged with additional works required 

to conserve them. Current cost pressure to be circa 

£400,000 and new issues being notified on a weekly basis. 

Urgent meetings to take place to manage this risk down.   SC CCz Board

PHC 069
Jan-2016 Jun-2019

Additional costs, delay and redesign needed as a result of lack of coordination 

between Atkins and Event.

Establish regular meetings between parties to review current information. 

Have monthly interface meetings. 4 4 16 3 2 6 3 3 9

Interface meetings held monthly and working well. These 

will continue. NM CCz Design

PHC 074

Jan-2016 Jun-2019

CCTV requirements not fully understood or do not meet community safety 

needs.

PCC arranged meeting with city CCTV. Designers to forward current 

proposals for client comment on internal CCTV. Have review with CCTV 

team. 3 3 9 3 3 9 2 2 4

Designed and built with consultation from PCC CCTV 

team. Ducts and connections are being made to connect to 

the PCC system. Atkins CCz Design

PHC 082

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Existing structural integrity of civils and adequacy of the highway drainage (The 

Node).

Design team to work with Highways over a solution that is acceptable to all.

4 4 16 2 3 6 4 4 16

Revised scheme for "The Node" is being designed by Atkins 

after agreeing a concept with SWW for a simplified 

connections to the drainage systems within Charles street. 

These works are excluded from the WD contract and are 

likely to be delivered by SWH. Design is likely to take 6 

weeks, a further 2 weeks for SWH to price and 

programme. The timescales for delivery are unclear. 

Integration will be required with current Highways 

improvements in the Charles Cross/Drake Circus area.  AB CCz Design

PHC 084
Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Party wall agreements with neighbouring properties. Seek legal advice and surveys to ensure agreements are in place in tandem 

with the programme. To be managed by an appointed party wall surveyor. 4 4 16 2 2 4 2 3 6

Party wall surveyor to confirm final arrangements to 

conclude their work. WD to complete the works. AB CCZ Design

PHC 089

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

M&E costs above budget, leading to redesign and impact on programme. F&G to review cost plan and design and to clearly inform PCC of likelihood 

of this happening so that VE can be considered.

4 3 12 2 2 4 3 4 12

October 2018 refinancing included M&E for redesign and 

alteration which were much higher than the budget. 

Residual risks remain as most of the M&E works are at the 

end of the programme of works, including commissioning 

now the building has power (which was delayed). FG CCz Design

PHC 090

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Fire Authority do not accept the principle agreed with Building Control and 

that the area of coverage is required to be the whole basement in lieu of 

corridors.

Atkins to liaise with the Fire Authority during Stage 4 and any final sign offs 

required .

4 3 12 2 2 4 3 3 9

Atkins to arrange any necessary meetings to ensure that 

matters are clear and actions assigned. Fire risk raised on 

the agenda again due to national context and comments 

from NTA (see risk 147), therefore risk increased. Building 

control have been contacted throughout the scheme and 

have approved scheme so now risk is small

Atkins CCz Design

PHC 007 Mar-2016 Jun-2019 Weather impacts on construction programme. Allow float within construction programme. 4 3 12 3 2 6 2 2 4 Residual risk remains. WD WWA Construction

PHC 091

Jul-2016 Jun-2019

Storage management/chemical management/ventilation requirements for pickles. Atkins to ensure that the base build has ventilation for the Pickles Store in 

the basement and the exhibition cabinet in the Mammoth Gallery.

4 3 12 2 3 6 3 3 9

Ventilation and control of the pickles remains a risk until 

the installation of the case and outside store is fully 

completed and advised/signed off as acceptable. Specialist 

advisors supporting PCC. Atkins LB Design

PHC 008
Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Inadequate site investigations. Team to propose investigations needed during design phase. Contractor to 

obtain quotations and procure surveys.
4 3 12 3 2 6 2 3 6

Residual risk relating to Culvert works both within the site 

and The Node.  Atkins CCz Construction

PHC 092

Sep-2016 Jun-2019

Atkins Design resource is affected and designs fall behind schedule. Maintain high level feed back with Atkins over resources.

2 4 8 3 3 9 2 2 4

Risk reduces each month as remaining scope decreases 

now. Considered a minimal risk, and would be addressed by 

Atkins if required. Atkins CCz Design

PHC 093

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Underground obstructions. Further to survey information, team to consider provisional sum if risk 

remains.
3 2 6 2 2 4 2 5 10

WD undertook surveys also, enabling package offered the 

opportunity to fully survey the road and the buildings risk 

lowered now as works well underway but remaining as 

public realm works may find issues. Atkins WWA Construction

Page 4 June 19 Risk Register

P
age 59



The Box Risk Register
PHC 094

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Adjacent structures (i.e. requiring special precautions). Team to propose investigations needed during design phase. Contractor to 

undertake survey sand appoint party wall surveyor.

3 3 9 2 2 4 2 3 6

Investigations of party walls taken place, structural engineer 

reviewed the underpinning and structural work in St Luke's 

in detail, a solution to pile the temporary works reduced 

this risk dramatically but at a large cost to the project. Risk 

much reduced now as much of the unknown structural 

work complete. All sub structure works complete so this 

risk has reduced. Some risk remains until public realm 

works complete. Atkins WD Construction

PHC 095 Mar-2016 Jun-2019 Other hazardous materials found. Undertake warranted surveys. 3 3 9 2 2 4 3 3 9 Team to highlight any remaining risk following surveys. Atkins WWA Construction

PHC 096

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Disputes and claims resulting from unforeseen events during construction. Rigorous reporting from the team and contractor to identify risks and 

implement mitigation measures. Client to have separate review of designs to 

verify if design team have considered everything that is necessary.
4 3 12 3 3 9 5 4 20

Claims have been received for extensions of time due to 

unforeseen and design coordination. Risk raised due to M&E 

coordination issues with the Event co-ordination. Ongoing 

interface sessions with third parties aim to limit unforeseen 

events. Change Control is another mechanism for 

controlling emerging 'changes' for client approval. CCz WWA Construction

PHC 097 Mar-2016 Jun-2019 Neighbouring properties raise issues which impact on the construction phase. Maintain ongoing liaison with neighbours prior to and during construction. 3 3 9 3 2 6 2 3 6 No outstanding complaints. CCz CCz Construction

PHC 100

Mar-2016 Jul-2018

Incomplete design prior to start on site. Designers to warrant design, potential to utilise BIM and contractor to 

review information.

4 3 12 3 3 9 2 3 6

The design process has sadly continued during the 

construction phase. Partly due to the design being 

incomplete and partly due to changes requested to the 

designs either by VE or by fit out or other design changes. 

Elements continue to be designed creating risk.    Atkins WWA Construction

PHC 102

Mar-2016 04/16/2019

Poor quality of workmanship/specification results in dispute/abortive work. Employ a project Clerk of Works and ensure robust contract 

documentation. 4 3 12 2 3 6 3 3 9

Clerk of works in place to identify any issues early on. Risk 

likely to be discovered in final phases including snagging and 

handover.  CoW Atkins Construction

PHC 105

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Competence of contractor and subcontractors. Robust procurement process followed by an interrogation of the supply 

chain.

4 3 12 3 3 9 1 3 3

Competency already validated under framework and 

reviewed at appointment stage. Contractors procedures 

and site set up very good, also contractor working under 

the eyes of hard hat tours, however risk remains that sub 

contractors under perform, WD have a process of getting 

subcontractors to appoint their own foremen which is a 

risk and a cost issue. WD CCz Construction

PHC 106

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Health and safety concerns. Thorough review of all contractor documentation and ongoing monitoring 

during construction.

3 3 9 2 3 6 2 3 6

Ongoing concern at all stages of the project with all parties 

being responsible for safe practices. WD site processes are 

very robust. However, there was an incident on the 27th 

November which required the site to be shut down. This 

was handled well testing processes and procedures. HSE 

inspection June 2018, raised the use of the crane over 

working area. All other inspections have been positive. 

Residual ongoing risks including fit of and installation of the 

window. Atkins WWA Construction

PHC 107

Dec-2016 Jun-2019

Ineffective handover/dust free procedure. Mitigate potential delay by reviewing contractor procedure and maintaining 

coordination with Event. Deep cleans scheduled, however, must be 

accepted as part of handover.  3 3 9 2 2 4 2 3 6

Contract documents to be clear in the project expectations, 

risk raised as contractor reporting potential delay in 

delivering Phase 1 due to co-ordination with Event. Risk 

lowered following understanding of WD hand over policy.

AB CCz Construction

PHC 108

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Effect of changes/variations on construction programme. Implement and maintain a strict Change Control process and ensure 

effective decision making timescales are complied with.
4 3 12 3 3 9 4 4 16

Client to minimise instructions once onsite. However, the 

delay in completing design information and the fact that a lot 

of design information doesn't meet the client brief means 

there will be a lot of change post contract. Atkins WWA Construction

PHC 109

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Unexploded ordinance discovered during works. All reasonable surveys/investigations undertaken prior to start of works. 

Contractor to ensure vigilance. 3 3 9 2 2 4 1 3 3

Investigations completed and risk lowered now as reduced 

level dig complete. Risk remains as potential in public realm 

works. Atkins WD Construction

PHC 117

Mar-2016 Jun-2019

Discrepancy between bills of quantities, specification and drawings. Robust set of tender/contract documentation. Team to deliver fully 

coordinated design.

3 3 9 2 4 8 4 4 16

Bills generally considered ok by WD but some examples of 

missed items have been noted, risk increased because the 

drawings were supplied to F&G late and incorporating much 

design development change. The re-measure highlighted an 

under measure and design changes (CA9). However their 

still appears to be items raised by WD as not in the bills, 

Atkins unclear if these are covered in the remeasure.

Atkins F&G Construction

PHC 123

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Event design forces design change onto main works despite design parameters 

imposed on them.

Atkins basis of design has been stated to PCC and Event. Event to work 

within stated parameters.

4 4 16 3 3 9 3 4 12

Event proposals now understood. But the on site changes 

could if not incorporated into the base design cause 

significant delay on site. Evident that Event are not designing 

within technical constraints and aspiration remains high and 

uncompromising so it is expected that base build change 

and disruption will lead to time and cost pressure. ISSUE: 

MAMMOTH AND PICKLES GALLERY . CCz DD Design

Page 5 June 19 Risk Register

P
age 60



The Box Risk Register
PHC 124

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Specialist input (projection, IT, façade lighting, GIS) changes design assumptions. Atkins to seek quotations from LITE, engage with GIS specialist. PCC to 

chase in-house IT team for feedback. Contractor seeking quotations for 

subcontractors.

3 4 12 2 3 6 2 4 8

Limited input received throughout the design stage, 

provisional sum reduced not based on any good information 

and stakeholders expectations remain high. Risk reduced as 

designs are now forth coming. Most of this information has 

now been received and priced indicatively, if not fully, so 

risk has reduced. Risk remains until all packages are placed 

however. External projection omitted. External lighting 

remains uncosted. Atkins/WD CCz Design

PHC 125

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Fire strategy development introduces cost, planning, access issues. Atkins to engage with PCC to discuss details and mitigate late changes.

3 4 12 2 2 4 3 4 12

Operational issues to be discussed in detail through out 

stage 5. TNA have had a change of officer and although 

recent correspondence has been very good, he is revisiting 

the issue of fire suppression which could be a big issue, this 

risk was raised until the issue was reviewed and resolved. 

Fire strategy has been updated and issued, ATK have not 

been advised of costs, but items will occur as part of the 

MEP installation so element of risk remains but has reduced.

Atkins PCC Design

PHC 126

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Fit out of St Luke's has significant cost/planning implications as greater 

understanding is developed on the wants/needs of the space.

Continued liaison with heritage and planners will reduce the likelihood of 

this happening. 4 4 16 2 3 6 3 4 12

Approaching building handover. Head of Contemporary Art 

requesting further changes on site very late in the process.  
CCz PB Construction

PHC 128

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Maintenance assumptions do not align with PCC policies/require specialist 

regimes/have a cost pressure.

PD to provide feedback from Design Team, review sessions and discuss 

with PCC. 3 4 12 3 3 9 3 4 12

PCC to consider maintenance and liaise with FM team and 

framework maintenance contractors alongside handover 

and O&M manuals. IC CCz Construction

PHC 132

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

The mural within the Learning Space isn't thoroughly considered resulting in 

loss of opportunity/complaints.

Survey of mural as part of an enabling package. Engaging with the family and 

seeking grants to restore the painting.

3 2 6 2 2 4 3 3 9

Some negative press coverage in August 2016, however 

Mural uncovered in Spring 2017 and reviewed by A&H staff, 

suitable grants needed to restore the painting, Plan is to 

follow up potential grants for refurbishments in Spring 

2018.  Risk raised as now grants claimed in Spring 2018

NM PB Board

PHC 135

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Assumptions on kitchen requirements have been made which might not be 

suitable when a catering operator is engaged.

PCC to continue to review designers assumptions..

3 3 9 2 2 4 3 3 9

Fit out of the catering kitchen to be programmed and 

delivery route to be agreed.  There is not an operator in 

place to engage with regarding final proposals IC PB Construction

PHC 137

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Surface water details need to be approved prior to the commencement of 

public highway works (FUL Condition 8).

Atkins to liaise with Andy Cottam. Engage directly with SWW.

4 4 16 2 2 4 4 4 16

Risk relates to Planning. Adequacy captured in PHC 083 

DR. Was held up by the lack of costing information available 

on culvert see comments on risk 36 and 82, Condition still 

to be discharged, however now culvert works have been 

split & agreed with PCC, this can be submitted. Risk has 

been reduced now culvert works scope has been 

confirmed. Atkins/WD CCz Design

PHC 138

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Provision of pedestrian/cycle access across Chapel Street (FUL Condition 15). 

Extent of works unclear.

Atkins to seek clarity over condition to allow budget to be appraised.

3 3 9 1 1 1 3 3 9

Cycle provision space identified in design. Budget to be 

reviewed. Risk not updated but issue raised with Atkins for 

update. This is a risk item as the areas identified for the 

cycle parking have been effected by the extra sub station 

and the decision to retain the toilets for the pickles store. Atkins CCz Design

PHC 139

Jun-2016 Jun-2019

Consultation relating to restricting Gibbon Street to one way access only needs 

further explanation to understand extent of work (FUL Condition 22).

Atkins/PCC to liaise with planners to better understand the scope of the 

condition.

3 4 12 2 2 4 2 2 4

Programme/cost implications need to be clarified. Atkins to 

review condition and advise of implications. Consultation 

has been delayed from Autumn 2017 to spring 2018 so risk 

has ben raised. Political objection to making Gibbon Street 

one was Client resolved the issue awaiting Atkins to submit 

for the planning condition to be removed. Risk lowered.

KB KB Design

PHC 147
Jul-2016 Jun-2019

Standards not met for National Archive acceptance. Ongoing PCC review alongside the design team with any comments or 

queries raised in good time. Keeping TNA involved with the project. 4 4 16 3 2 6 4 3 12

Atkins looking at current finishes to walls and meeting due 

to understand if the archive has been adequately designed.  Atkins CCz business

PHC 149

Jul-2016 Jun-2019

Failure by PCC to coordinate ICT, associated infrastructure and digital plan. Appoint a Delt PM to lead as a work stream.

3 4 12 2 2 4 2 2 4

Funded DELT to appoint a dedicated PM to promote the 

ICT interface issues. Detail has been discussed and Delt 

have reported on all building and exhibition designs. Risk 

lowered. AO retained to recheck T Clark Drawings. MB CCz business

PHC 154

May-2017 Jun-2019

Contractor goes into receivership. Consider taking out a performance bond, get full financial appraisal.

3 5 15 3 3 9 2 2 4

Decision taken following advice from PCC risk team and 

legal that bond is not necessary therefore risk has increased 

but stable. No change. WD trading strongly risk reduced.
F&G CCz Construction

PHC 158

Dec-2017 Jun-2019

Budget. Residual risk of change and effects of exhibition changes on base build 

costing outside of the budget.

Place greater emphasis on exhibition interface so necessary change is 

flushed out, compromise where possible to ensure Event design around 

constraints, and re-focus on income generation.
4 4 16 3 4 12 3 4 12

Mammoth and pickles gallery reinforcement. Lighting and 

other requests. Risk that further issues may arise when 

contractor on site.  CCz DD Board

Page 6 June 19 Risk Register

P
age 61



The Box Risk Register
PHC 159

Dec-2017 Jun-2019

Capacity: with the combination of work streams, coupled with unresolved 

change issues, the core team are now over stretched leading to fatigue and 

burn out.

Sure up administration and support resources to allow senior staff to 

remain focused to avoid work stream delays.

4 4 16 3 4 12 4 4 16

Death of Programme Manager and long term absence of 

build Project Manager. Fatigue and burnout continue to 

remain a risk. Seek to produce a stress risk assessment and 

for Senior Leadership Team to monitor and track this risk 

with the stresses of fit out and the pressure of opening 

beginning to build.   PB DD Board

PHC 161

Dec-2017 Jun-2019

Exhibition Programme. Meeting expectations and delivery of the opening 

programme. Achieving the necessary conservation of the major exhibits in time.

Be decisive about resourcing conservation and artistic programme, don’t 

dwell on failure, be bold and proactive in decision making. 4 4 16 2 3 6 3 4 12

Reputation risk and expectations of funders.

NM DD Board

PHC 162
Jun-2018 Jun-2019 Resolution of legal associated with revised WPD approach.

Regular chasing of WPD & PCC legal team to ensure closing out of all 

actions.
3 4 12 2 2 4 2 2 4

Michemores issuing extensions of time and any other 

contractual legal changes.
WD CCz Construction

PHC 163

Jun-2018 Jun-2019
Elongated response periods associated with Change Control process leads to 

adverse effect to programme and cost implications.

All parties to respond in stipulated timescales. When timescales are not 

achievable, the party has a responsibility to raise this to the other team 

members so an alternative deadline can be agreed.

4 3 12 3 3 9 3 4 12

A strong Change Control system put in place to ensure that 

instructions are not given without cost implications being 

understood. All parties have proved slow in responding to 

change control causing concern of delay.

AF CCz Construction

PHC 164
Jul-2018 Jun-2019

New senior management posts seek to make changes to the project that cause 

delay or costs to rise.

Being clear in the appointments of the sphere of influence and decision 

making processes and governance. 
4 4 16 2 4 8 3 4 12

Changes to SLC and further change requests.
PB DD Board

PHC 165 Jul-2018 Jun-2019 Restructure demoralising staff leading to deadlines being missed. Clear consultation and good information to staff will motivate staff. 4 4 16 2 4 8 2 2 4 New structure now in place. Residual risk remains. PB DD Board

PHC 166
Jul-2018 Jun-2019

Wayfinding not resolved in good time to allow the graphic design to deliver a 

co-ordinated approach.
Use look and feel 3D visuals to develop wayfinding . 2 3 6 2 2 4 2 2 4

Separate contract been awarded.
KF CCz Design

PHC 167
Aug-2018 Jun-2019 Change being introduced outside of the CCF process.

Heads of disciplines to reinforce the message that change has to be via the 

CCF route.
4 3 12 2 3 6 2 3 6

Team to identify and control any works which constitute a 

change and ensure it goes through Change Control.
All WWA Construction

PHC 168
Nov-2018 Jun-2019

Delay and disruption resulting from culvert works not programmed by 

contractor.
Scope clarification and engagement with contractor. 4 4 16 3 3 9 3 4 12 Contractor has re-sequenced works. F&G WWA

Construction

PHC 169 Nov-2018 Nov-2018 Impact of contractor complying with the Fire Strategy.
Regular meetings and review of progress on site to ensure material orders 

and specification are compliant.
3 3 9 3 2 6 3 3 9

Ongoing review and engagement between Atkins and the 

contractor teams.
Atkins CCz Construction

PHC 170

Dec-18 Jan-19

Impact of issues associated with SLC plaster and lathe ceiling. Ceiling removed due to poor condition. However, this is linked to a 

planning condition. Planning officer has been consulted and the team are 

awaiting feedback.
4 3 12 2 2 4 4 3 12

New ceiling installed in line with architect details.

Atkins PCC Construction

PHC 171

Dec-2017 Jan-19

Brexit affects import tariffs on costs and this causes contractors to go into 

receivership or decline to meet their contracted price.

All prices are tendered at current rates and the risk of increased tariffs are 

a contractor risk (see also risk PCH 154). 2 3 6 2 3 6 2 3 6

PCC received advice from legal advisor that advised that the 

JCT contract places the increased tariff or import duty with 

the contractor. CCz DD Board

Page 7 June 19 Risk Register

P
age 62



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 1 of 13

Date: 17 July 2019

Title of Report: The iMayflower Project

Lead Member: Councillor Tudor Evans OBE (Leader)

Lead Strategic Director: Anthony Payne (Strategic Director for Place)

Author: Tracey Beeck, iMayflower Project Manager and Nina Sarlaka, Enterprise 
and Inward Investment Manager

Contact Email: tracey.beeck@plymouth.gov.uk nina.sarlaka@plymouth.gov.uk 

Your Reference: N/A

Key Decision: No

Confidentiality: Part I - Official

Purpose of Report
The purpose of the report is to brief Scrutiny regarding the iMayflower Project; a Project funded by 
the Department for Culture, Media and Sports’ (DCMS), through the creation of the Cultural 
Development Fund (CDF) and administered by Arts Council England (ACE). 

Recommendations and Reasons

 It is recommended that the Scrutiny Panel receives the report and then we invite the Panel to 
consider what role they would like to play in the evaluation of this Project. 

Alternative options considered and rejected

No other options considered as this brings: Economic growth, jobs, training and development, along 
with providing events which showcase Plymouth as a great place to live, work and do business.  

Relevance to the Corporate Plan and/or the Plymouth Plan

A Growing City 

The investment from CDF will enable us to deliver: Economic Growth that benefits as many people as 
possible; quality jobs and valuable skills and a vibrant cultural offer. It will achieve this through the 
business support, skills and learning and access to finance aimed at the cultural and creative sector.

A Caring Council

The investment from CDF will enable us to deliver: A welcoming city. It will achieve this through the

Place shaping element of the Project

Page 63 Agenda Item 7

mailto:tracey.beeck@plymouth.gov.uk
mailto:nina.sarlaka@plymouth.gov.uk


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 2 of 13

Plymouth Plan:

Vision – Plymouth as a growing city / Plymouth as an international city Policies 

GRO1 – Creating the conditions for economic growth

GRO2 – Delivering skills and talent development

INT1 – Implementing Britain’s Ocean City

INT2 – Plymouth in the global market place

INT3 - Positioning Plymouth as a major UK destination

INT4 – Delivering a distinctive, dynamic cultural centre of regional, national and

international renown

INT7 – Supporting world class universities

Implications for the Medium Term Financial Plan and Resource Implications:    

Capital Implications
None

Revenue Implications

There is no impact as the Project is funded by £3,497,301 from the Cultural Development Fund 
(Funded by DCMS, via Arts Council England, as part of the Industrial Strategy), and by almost £2.5m of 
match funding sourced by Partner Organisations. PCC is the Accountable Body for the Project, 
providing overall project management; adequate costs have been accounted for in the funding profile to 
ensure that all PCC costs are met. All payments from ACE are paid in advance so there are no negative 
treasury management implications.    

Carbon Footprint (Environmental) Implications: 

None

Other Implications: e.g. Health and Safety, Risk Management, Child Poverty:
* When considering these proposals members have a responsibility to ensure they give due regard to the 
Council’s duty to promote equality of opportunity, eliminate unlawful discrimination and promote good relations 
between people who share protected characteristics under the Equalities Act and those who do not.
No direct implications are envisaged for the above themes.

Appendices 

Page 64



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 3 of 13

Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable) 
If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate 
why it is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.  

Ref. Title of Appendix

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

A Briefing report (mandatory)

 

Background papers: 

Please list all unpublished, background papers relevant to the decision in the table below. Background 
papers are unpublished works, relied on to a material extent in preparing the report, which disclose 
facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the work is based.

Exemption Paragraph Number (if applicable)

If some/all of the information is confidential, you must indicate why it 
is not for publication by virtue of Part 1of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 by ticking the relevant box.  

Title of background paper(s)

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

  
Sign off:

Fin pl.19.
20.5
1

Leg lt/328
61/0
507

Mon 
Off

Click 
here 
to 
enter 
text.

HR Click 
here 
to 
enter 
text.

Asset
s 

Click 
here 
to 
enter 
text.

Strat 
Proc

Click here 
to enter 
text.

Originating Senior Leadership Team member:  David Draffan

Please confirm the Strategic Director(s) has agreed the report?  Yes 

Date agreed: 03/07/2019

Cabinet Member signature of approval:  

 
Date: 08/07/2019

Page 65



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 4 of 13

APPENDIX A
1. OUR JOURNEY SO FAR

Plymouth has come a long way in a short period of time, changing the shape of the city culturally; we 
have focussed on both becoming and promoting ourselves as a city that embraces culture and 
creativity. 

The Cultural Cities Enquiry1 was an independent enquiry into the power of cultural investment to drive 
growth in UK cities; it created key recommendations to help cities to prosper. The aim of this report 
was to ‘help cities across the UK to unlock the full potential of culture to promote thriving 
communities and drive economic growth.’ The enquiry gave some recommendations about achieving 
this including a recommendation that Cities would ‘draw together partners from across city 
government, culture, business and higher education’. They also recommend that there should be ‘Local 
vehicles for social investment into culture and creative organisations’ and ‘Coordinated approaches to 
development of creative talent to meet local needs’. 

We have achieved some amazing things across the city already with Projects like The Box, Ocean 
Studios, Makers HQ, the Social Enterprise Fund, and our PCC business support, provided by a Senior 
Economic Officer working exclusively with businesses in the creative and digital sectors.
 
We have worked in partnership with Arts Council England to support the Culture Plymouth Board for 
the last ten years, we work with the board to seek opportunities support their agenda. 

We have been brave: where other authorities have cut discretionary budgets which supported culture, 
we have recognised the importance of investment in this area, in order to develop Plymouth into a 
world class city in which to live, work and play.

Arts Council England (ACE) has recognised that Plymouth has been undergoing a cultural renaissance; 
this has resulted in a significant increase in the investment in the city’s cultural ecology: 

During the previous round of National Portfolio Organisation (NPO) funding in 2015 to 2018, ACE 
funded four local organisations with grants worth £7,127,991. In the most recent round of funding 
from 2018 to 2022, ten local organisations achieved National Portfolio status with grants worth 
£15,969,424. 

The newly funded organisations include: 
 The Box
 KARST
 Literature Works
 Plymouth Culture
 Plymouth Music Zone 
 Take a Part. 

RIO also secured an additional grant for Ocean Studios. Barbican Theatre and the Theatre Royal 
continue to be funded. Unfortunately, while Plymouth Arts Centre lost its NPO status, it’s good to 
see the Plymouth Arts Cinema move to the College of Art for its long term sustainability.

The bare figures are worth reflecting on. Even though the current round covers four years not 
three, this represents a 150% increase in the number of organisations funded and a 125% increase 

1 https://www.corecities.com/sites/default/files/field/attachment/Cultural%20Cities%20Enquiry%20%5Bweb%5D.pdf

Page 66



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 5 of 13

in the level of grant funding in the city. It is the most significant increase in investment by ACE in 
any part of England.

We must acknowledge some of the wonderful things that our focus and commitment has achieved for 
our city so far:

 We have achieved the investment to open the World leading Market Hall Project next spring 
which will be of international importance  

 We are the lead city in the Mayflower 400 celebrations, showcasing our ability to deliver 
world class events which will highlight the beauty, and cultural diversity of our city.

 We had the vision, drive and passion to apply for and be accepted as the UK’s first Fab City2 
 We have led the development of The Box 

We have clearly set the context for the city that we want to be, and so we are now in a fantastic 
position to make a case for investment; this ambition led to us recognising an opportunity to bid for 
money from the Cultural Development Fund, which would support us push this ambition, further 
enhancing culture and accelerating economic growth. 

2. THE PROJECT

In 2020, Plymouth hosts Mayflower 400, involving 5 million visitors and marking one of the biggest 
stories in history. iMayflower is what comes next. It is the reset moment for Plymouth’s creative 
economy.
Harnessing immersive, digital technologies iMayflower supports Plymouth’s creative talent to bring to 
life world class cultural heritage and shape the new journeys our diverse communities will continue to 
make. It is about growth; a creative ecology to help the best and brightest ideas succeed, building 
businesses and shaping a sustainable future for all.
The Project proposes to take a systematic/ecological approach to stimulating growth in and demand 
for the region’s creative and cultural industries. This funding will provide the ability to collectively grow 
various key strategic elements of the cultural and creative industries ecology in and around Plymouth.

2 https://fab.city/

Page 67



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 6 of 13

3. FUNDING

IMayflower is a new Project. It is only one of only 5 successful applications from around 100 across 
England. CDF is a new initiative, arising out the Industrial Strategy and the recently announced Creative 
Industries Sector Deal. This funding represents the first of its kind, and we have been told that 
competition for money from the fund was extreme, and that it was down to the exceptional nature of 
our bid, our ambition and our achievements to date that led to our success. 

The total Project value is £5,958,617, funded through a grant of £3,497,301. Match funding of 
£2,461,316 is being provided by the six Delivery Partners listed below. The Project runs for three 
years, from April 2019 to March 2022.

4. PARTNERSHIP AND GOVERNANCE 

Plymouth City Council (PCC) is the accountable body, providing leadership, support and oversight to 
ensure that all Project elements are delivered by the partners and output targets are met, with an 
ambition to exceed. The PCC iMayflower project team will look for opportunities to stimulate further 
success by linking organisations and businesses together and drawing in other elements of work to 
deliver a programme that will lead to a tangible lasting change in the digital economy in Plymouth. 

The PCC iMayflower project team will lead a Partnership consisting of six other organisations working 
with cultural and creative industries: 

 Creative England
 Crowdfunder
 Destination Plymouth
 Plymouth College of Art
 Real Ideas Organisation 
 University of Plymouth. 

A Collaboration Agreement, produced by the Council’s Legal Services, has been put in place with all 
Partners, ensuring that Partners are clear of their responsibilities for delivery within the Project. 
iMayflower is a key milestone in the growth of our cultural and creative sector. 

5. PROJECT DELIVERY STRANDS

The Project will harness Mayflower 400’s cultural programme with the economic benefits that will arise 
from growth in our cultural and creative industries. 

The Project is designed to power economic growth in the city within the Creative Industries Sector, 
with a particular focus on digital immersive technologies. The Project will also encourage a step change 
in cultural offer in Plymouth, encouraging residents to involve themselves in the wide range of place 
shaping events.     

 Investment will be made in four areas:

 Place shaping - delivering large scale cultural and creative events to inspire and enrich lives, 
examples of these events, which are delivered predominantly by Mayflower 400 and Real Ideas 
Organisation but also by University of Plymouth and Plymouth College of Art and will include;

o Illuminate
o Mayflower Trails Launch
o The Mayflower Ceremony

Page 68



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 7 of 13

o Ignite: festival of Creativity 
o Arts Weekender
o Festival of Sail
o Mayflower Civic Ceremony

This significant programme of activity and investment will enhance both the Mayflower legacy and grow 
our city’s cultural and creative sector. It will enable the Mayflower 400 team to expand its community 
engagement and marketing/communications activity, raising Plymouth’s local, regional, national and 
international profile. It will position Plymouth as a major cultural and creative city that is an attractive 
place to live, work and visit.

 Skills and learning programme – increasing the creative and business skills of our young 
people, communities, graduate and professionals, to enthuse and excite, this includes:

o  A smart citizens outreach programme to be delivered by Plymouth College of Art, which 
will provide:
 Events
 Workshops
 Courses 

o  Events and courses provided by the University of Plymouth who will in provide:
 TechStars Start Up weekends
 An intensive cultural and creative leadership programme
 A broader based cultural and creative leadership programme

This will increase the capacity for us to grow the talent we already have within Plymouth, getting 
people ready for the expansion in jobs and other opportunities for participation in this exciting sector. 

 Creative sector business support – growing our cultural and creative sector businesses, with a 
particular focus on immersive media and digital fabrication, the support will be provided through:
 

o The Market Hall Devonport, managed by the Real Ideas Organisation in their new facilities 
that will include space for creatives to work

o The Bridge at the University of Plymouth, which will provide a bespoke business support 
service for students studying in the creative sector, encouraging them to set up business and 
stay in Plymouth after graduation

o Creative England will work very intensively to support businesses with ‘accelerator’ 
methodology. Their specialist programme will offer skills development and business support 
to businesses within Plymouth. Working with regional, and national, companies and 
organisations Creative England connects its partners with creative networks to support 
industry growth

o Crowdfunder will provide coaching, mentoring and support to the businesses that they 
work with through their nationally recognised network

 Access to innovative finance – providing accessible start-up and scale-up funding for businesses 
in our creative economy, this will be provided by:
 

o  Crowdfunder -  who will help businesses fund from ‘the Crowd’ and provide match funding 
opportunities through other programmes like ‘Back Her Business’ 

o  Creative England - supports and invests in digital creative companies to finance business 
growth; fuelling the fastest growing sector in the UK economy by financing business 
expansion and new products. They will deliver this by sourcing  larger pots of funding 
particularly for scale ups; they will offer grants from the specialist sources like the New 
Ideas Fund, Greenshoots, the Immersive Technology Investment Accelerator, competitive 

Page 69



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 8 of 13

rate loans and links to angel investors along with banks who specialise in funding for the 
creative sector. 

The business support and innovative finance programmes will lead to both new creative industry start-
ups, and growth in existing companies which will lead to the creation of new high-quality jobs and 
Intellectual Property. 

6. CREATIVE INDUSTRIES SECTOR CONTEXT

6.1 DCMS definition

For the purpose of clarity DCMS define the Creative Industries Sector as a collection of jobs in the 
following areas3:

3 Source: DCMS – Creative Industries Economic Estimates Jan 2015

Page 70



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 9 of 13

- Advertising and Marketing
- Architecture
- Crafts
- Design: Product, Graphic & Fashion
- Film, TV, Video, Radio & Photography
-IT, Software & Computer Services -Publishing
-Museums, Galleries & Libraries
-Music, Performing & Visual Arts

6.2 The Plymouth picture 

Looking at this at a local level, we can see that there is also considerable economic 
growth in Plymouth4:  

Between 2011 and 2017 in 
terms of real output (GVA) 

sector growth has 
increased 21.6%

In 2017 Creative Industries 
were worth £128m to the 

Plymouth economy

Between 2011 and 2017 
there has been a 36.5% 

growth in full-time 
equivalent jobs

In 2017 Creative Industries 
provided 3,366 full time 

equivalent jobs in 
Plymouth

If this growth continues at the same rate by 2030 creative industries will be worth 
£187m to the Plymouth economy, and businesses will employ 4,914 full time 
equivalent people.
This level of growth exceeds the overall projected growth of 3% per year across the 
LEP area. 

This sector (and the sub sectors within it) really matter to us; research in the United 
States and Europe points to the fact that while many jobs in our present economies 
are under threat from automation in the next 20 years, the more creative a job is, 
the less likely it is to be replaced by a machine; this makes this sector a key focus 
growth area for the city to protect long term employment, both direct and indirect.

7. DIGITAL TECHNOLOGIES CONTEXT 

Plymouth is specifically focussed on growth in creative digital technologies, the 
iMayflower Project will most closely align with this area due to the core focus of 
digital fabrication and immersive technology. 

4 Source: AMORE Economic Model & Database, May 2019

Page 71



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 10 of 13

7.1 DCMS definition

To clarify where these jobs are, DCMS define the Digital Technology Sector as a 
collection of jobs in the following areas5: 

- Manufacturing of electronics and computers;
-Wholesale of computers and electronics 
- Publishing (excluding translation and interpretation activities)
- Software publishing 
- Film, TV, video, radio and music;
- Telecoms
- Computer programming consultancy & related activities;
- Information service activities;
- Repair of computers and communication equipment

7.2 The Plymouth picture

Between 2011 and 2017 
in terms of real output 

(GVA) sector growth has 
increased 21.9%

In 2017 Digital 
Technologies were 
worth £85m to our 

economy

Between 2011 and 2017 
there has been a 59.6% 

growth in full-time 
equivalent jobs

In 2017 220 enterprises 
provided 1,670 full time 

equivalent jobs in 
Plymouth

If this growth continues at the same rate by 2030 digital technologies will be worth 
£124m to the Plymouth economy, and businesses will employ 2,438 full time 
equivalent people.

8. FOCUS OF THE PROJECT

There are two aspects that the Project will focus on, in terms of employment and 
skills: 

8.1 Growing our Immersive Technology capabilities  

Immersive Technologies encompass a range of technologies ‘that attempts to 
emulate a physical world through the means of a digital on simulated world, thereby 
creating a sense of immersion’6.   There a range of experiences that deliver this 
experience:

5 Source: DCMS – Creative Industries Economic Estimates Jan 2015
6 Source: https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Immersive_technology

Page 72



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 11 of 13

8.1.1 Virtual reality (VR) is an experience taking place within simulated and 
immersive environments that can be similar to or completely different from 
the real world. Applications of virtual reality can include entertainment (i.e. 
gaming) and educational purposes (i.e. medical or military training). Unlike 
traditional user interfaces, virtual reality places the user inside an 
experience. Instead of viewing a screen in front of them, users are immersed 
and able to interact with 3D worlds.

8.1.2 Augmented reality (AR) is an interactive experience of a real-world 
environment where the objects that reside in the real-world are enhanced 
by computer-generated perceptual information, sometimes across multiple 
sensory modalities, a great example of this technology is ‘Pokémon go’ 
which allowed users to find and collect virtual Pokémon. This experience is 
seamlessly interwoven with the physical world such that it is perceived as an 
immersive aspect of the real environment.

8.1.3 Mixed reality is a term that is often used interchangeably with the term 
"augmented reality," although some contend there are essential differences. 
In general, both mixed reality and augmented reality involve placing virtual 
objects in a "real" visual field, Ironman, the film, made extensive use of 
mixed reality when he was saving the world. In some cases, people use the 
term "augmented reality" to specifically describe a virtual overlay, such as a 
digital overlay on a car windshield, while using the term "mixed reality" to 
describe specific situations where virtual objects are instead integrated into 
a physical view individually and fixed in that view.

8.2 Digital Fabrication

Digital fabrication is a process of design and production process which involves 3D 
modelling or computing-aided design (CAD) with manufacturing equipment. The 
advances in these technologies allow for both easy prototyping and for goods to be 
produced more affordably, faster, more accurately and with a higher level of quality. 
One key benefit is the ability to produce anything, anywhere. There are two types of 
digital fabrication – additive and subtractive.

8.2.1 Additive digital fabrication includes exciting technology like advanced 3D 
printing. 3D printers assemble physical versions of digital objects; 3D printer 
uses are unlimited. It is used in the packaging industry, automotive industry, 
aircraft and health care. 3D printing is so powerful that it can create almost 
anything, from food, clothing, houses to organ tissues and cells – using a 
range of materials including plastic, glass, concrete and ceramics.

8.2.2 Subtractive  digital fabrication manufacturing is a process by which 3D 
objects are constructed by successively cutting material away from a solid 
block of material, bars, or rods of plastic, metal, or other materials; these 
are shaped by cutting, boring, drilling, and grinding.

Page 73



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 12 of 13

9. PROJECT OUTCOMES

There are agreed minimum outcomes to meet within the Project, all Partners have 
signed up to individually meet a range of different outcome measures; collectively the 
Project will deliver: 

 The creation of 156.5 full time equivalent direct jobs
 The creation of 191 full time equivalent indirect jobs
 Support for 218 businesses (start up and scale up)
 Delivery of 1,340 courses with accreditation
 Engagement of 3,020 people through workshops, events and non-accredited 

courses
 An audience reach of 1,414,829 people

10.ALIGNMENT WITH OTHER INITIATIVES AND PROJECTS 

There are three key areas of alignment for the iMayflower Project: 

10.1 The Mayflower 400 commemorations  which will include a creative, inspiring 
and unforgettable series of events - from breathtaking, once-in-a-lifetime 
festivals to grand, thought-provoking artistic installations and a vast network 
of community events.

10.2 The Market Hall Devonport Project; created and led by the Real Ideas 
Organisationi (RIO). This truly outstanding project will see the development 
of a 15m wide Immersive Dome, the first of its kind in Europe, only the 
second of its size in the world, and significantly, with the most cutting edge 
technology globally. In short the creation of this dome and the supporting 
infrastructure for business will see Plymouth become of international 
importance in the digital and creative sector

10.3 Plymouth has become a Fab City, the very first in the UK; this initiative is 
concentrated on cities producing what they use, being locally productive but 
globally connected. The core commitment is for everyone in a city to work 
together to be at a point by 2054 where a city produces what it consumes – 
the circular economy principle. They are connected to Fab Lab principles 
which showcase new technologies and use design to solve societal issues. 
Across the network of cities there are a multitude of activities, initiatives 
and approaches that include systems change, design thinking, inclusive 
economic models, innovation and creativity. Each Fab City is different but 
many of the common elements – social justice, arts, tech, fairness, and 
inclusive economic approaches – are already very evident in Plymouth. For 
instance, Plymouth Art College has a Fab Lab; Ocean Studios, Makers HQ, 
the Market Hall, Thinktanq all embody many of the same principles and 
practice. More widely, much of the work around inclusive growth and 
climate emergency links well.

There are other areas of alignment, the Project supports the recently published 
Heart of the South West Productivity Strategy in its aims to support new and 
existing businesses and improve productivity under the ‘Business Leadership and 
Ideas’ theme and by addressing graduate retention and developing a highly 
skilled workforce it also supports the ‘Employment, Skills and Learning’ theme.

Page 74



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

OFFICIAL Page 13 of 13

At a local level, iMayflower supports the Local Economic Strategy, particularly 
the Digital Economy and Visitor Economy and Culture flagships. Arts, Culture 
and Creative Industries are also one of the priority areas for the Plymouth Plan 
and Plymouth and South West Devon Joint Local Plan 2014 – 2034. 

Culture and Creative Industries is a major priority area for Plymouth’s Visitor 
Economy Plan and the Project will directly contribute to its aims of increasing 
festivals and events as a major reason for attracting visitors to the city. In 
addition, skills and exploitation are identified in Connected Plymouth Digital 
Strategy as key areas for development.

The Project supports the aims of the Industrial Strategy Creative Industry 
Sector deal by building the appropriate skills for individuals and businesses, 
providing access to funding and spaces, celebrating successes and using large 
scale cultural events to promote and showcase the talented businesses and 
individuals residing in the city, thus creating a sense of place whilst also driving a 
new form of tourist economy for the region.

11.CURRENT STATUS 

At the moment many partners are recruiting into roles supported by this funding so 
that they can then develop their detailed Project plans, and begin to deliver Project 
activities.

There has been a successful iMayflower public launch which took place at the 
opening of the very well attended Ignite: a Festival of Creativity.  This event is the 
first time that the University of Plymouth and Plymouth College of Art (with the 
support of the Real Ideas Organisation), have brought their graduate shows together. 

The Project will launch to the wider business community in July, with a presentation 
at the Chamber of Commerce ‘City Conversations’ Event.

A webpage has been set up - https://www.visitplymouth.co.uk/invest/why-
plymouth/imayflower which will provide links and information about Project activity 
over the lifecycle of the Project.

We will throughout the Life-cycle of the Project look for opportunities to use our 
success to gain national and international recognition through awards and events, 
consistently pushing to raise Plymouth’s profile. 

Page 75

https://www.visitplymouth.co.uk/invest/why-plymouth/imayflower
https://www.visitplymouth.co.uk/invest/why-plymouth/imayflower


This page is intentionally left blank



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative 
Change Overview Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme 2019-20

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to change at 
short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to be of strategic 
relevance.

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s work 
programme, please contact Helen Prendergast, Democratic Adviser on 01752 305155.

Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Strategic Transport Schemes 
Update 4 (Medium) Update on strategic transport schemes 

(Presentation)
Councillor 

Coker/Paul Barnard

Air Quality Management 5 (High) Overview of the air quality management 
within the City

Councillor 
Dann/Ruth 

Harrell/Nicola Horne5 June 2019

Transforming Cities Fund 
Programme Update 4 (Medium) To provide an Update on Transforming 

Cities Fund Programme (Presentation)

Councillor 
Coker/Paul 

Barnard/Richard 
Banner

The Box Update 5 (High)

Final Capital Budget settlement (pre 
decision scrutiny) and general update to 
include programme, budget and plan for 

opening 

Councillor 
Evans/David 
Draffan/Paul 

Brookes/Caroline 
Cozens

The iMaylfower Project 4 (Medium) Part of the Mayflower 400 Plan 

Councillor 
Evans/David 

Draffan/Tracey 
Beeck/Nina 

Sarlaka/Lindsey Hall

17 July 2019 

Plymouth Sound National 
Marine Park 5 (High) Review the Plans for the National 

Marine Park
Councillor Dann/Paul 
Barnard/Kat Deeney

Brexit – Plymouth Ports 5 (High) The impact of Brexit on Plymouth Ports

Councillor 
Haydon/Ruth 

Harrell/Katherine 
O’Connor25 

September 
2019

Mayflower Update 5 (High) To include final programme, Elizabethan 
House, trails, marketing 

Councillor Peter 
Smith/David 

Draffan/Charles 
Hackett

Page 77 Agenda Item 9



Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Plan for Fishing 5 (High) Pre decision scruitny and update on 
Select Committee Review outcomes

Councilor 
Evans/David 

Draffan/Amanda 
Ratsey

Brexit – New Burdens 5 (High) Impact of Brexit on new burdens for the 
City Council

Councillor 
Evans/Kevin 
McKenzie

City Centre Bid Renewal 5 (High) Pre decision scrutiny

Councillor 
Evans/David 

Draffan/Patrick 
Knight/Steve Hughes

Plan for Homes: The First 5 
Years 5 (High) Update on the Plan for Homes: the First 

5 Years 

Councillor 
Penberthy/Paul 

Barnard/Nick Carter

Annual Housing Statement 5 (High) To provide the Annual Housing 
Statement

Councillor 
Penberthy/Paul 
Barnard/Grant 

Jackson

Visitor Plan (2020-2030) 4 (Medium) Review the refreshed Visitor Plan 2020-
2030, prior to Cabinet approval

Councillor Evans 
Smith/David 

Draffan/Amanda 
Lumley/Patrick 

Knight

High Street Fund Update 
(TBC) 5 (High) Update on the outcome of High Street 

Fund submission

Councillor 
Lowry/David 
Draffan/Stuart 

Wingfield

Joint Local Plan Authorities 
Annual Monitoring Report 4 (Medium) To provide the Annual Monitoring 

Report

Councillor Coker/
Paul Barnard/Richard 

Grant

20 
November 

2019

Climate Emergency Plan 5 (High)

As part of the Council’s decision to 
declare a climate emergency it 

committed to draft a Climate Emergency 
Plan and report back to Council. 

Councillor Dann/Paul 
Barnard/Kat 

Deeney/Alistair 
MacPherson

Plan for Homes 3 Update 5 (High) Update on the Plan for Homes 3 Update

Councillor 
Penberthy/Paul 

Barnard/Nick Carter15 January 
2020

Strategic Transport 
Programme Update 4 (Medium) Update on strategic transport schemes

(Presentation)
Councillor 

Coker/Paul Barnard

11 March 
2020 Plan for Homes 5 (High) Overview of the Plan for Homes 

Scheme

Councillor 
Penberthy/Paul 
Barnard/Matt 

Garrett/Nick Carter 

Page 78



Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Site Visits 2019/20

June 2019 The Box To review the building works David Draffan

August/
September 

2019
Plymouth Port Site visit to better understand the 

impact of Brexit on the port (Millbay) Katherine O’Connor

August 2019 City Centre Site  Visit
Tour to include the Barcode, Derry’s, 

Colin Campbell Court and Railway 
Station

David Draffan

October 
2019 Derriford Site Visit

To review the delivery of the Derriford 
masterplan and direct development 

programme David Draffan

December 
2019 Oceansgate Site Visit To review progress on Phases 2 and 3 James Whitlock

Select Committee Review

October 
2019 Buses 5 (High)

To include bus services, subsidised fares, 
real time information, low admission 

buses, young people concessionary fares, 
dial a ride

Councillor 
Coker/Paul 
Barnard/Phil 

Heseltine

January 2020 Budget Scrutiny (Joint Review) 5 (High)

The Select Committee will consider 
whether the Cabinet has an effective 

plan for the implementation of a 
reduced budget for the next financial 
year and any steps that the council is 

taking to respond to the financial 
situation

All Cabinet 
Members/Strategic 
Directors/Service 

Directors

Workshop

July 2019 Fishing 5 (High)
Interactive session to inform 

consultant’s brief for infrastructure 
study

Amanda Ratsey

Items to be Scheduled 2019/20

TBC Community Cohesion 5 (High)
Further look at Community Cohesion 

following the UK leaving the EU
Councillor 

Penberthy/Darin 
Halifax

Items to be Scheduled for 2020/21

Page 79



Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Page 80



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Tracking Decisions 2019/20

Tracking Decisions- 17 July 2019 Official

Minute No. Resolution Target Date, Officer Responsible 
and Progress

Minute No: 45

Brexit and the 
Environment

6 March 2019

The Committee agreed –

1. That in consultation with Kevin McKenzie (Policy and Intelligence Advisor) 
and the Chair a letter is written to the Chair of the Efra Board outlining 
the Committee’s concerns;

2. To recommend to Cabinet that it investigates and supports the 
designation of the Plymouth Port Health Authority as a Boarder 
Inspection Post;

3. To recommend to Cabinet that it endorses and supports the 
reassessment for Plymouth to become a strategic port;

4. That air quality management is included on it works programme for June 
2019 meeting

Complete 

Date: June 2019
Officer: Kevin McKenzie/Helen 
Prendergast
Progress:

1. The letter had been drafted but 
Efra had published its report on 
Pre-legislative Scrutiny of the 
Draft Environment (Principles 
and Governance) Bill which 
reflected the concerns of the 
Committee.

2/3. The recommendation to 
Cabinet would be reviewed as 
part of the work programme on 
Brexit – Plymouth Ports 
scheduled to be scrutinised at 
the September r2019 meeting.

4. Air Quality Management was 
considered at the meeting held 
on 5 June 2019.

Minute No. 6

Strategic Transport 
Scheme Update

5 June 2019

The Committee requested an update be provided to members relating to the 
eligibility of the Tamar Bridge to submit a MRN bid for funding.

Complete

Date: July 2019
Officer: Helen Prendergast
Progress: The following response was 
provided via email dated 8 July 2019. As 
the Tamar Bridge forms part of the 
Major Road Network and a future 
funding bid could be submitted for 

P
age 81

A
genda Item

 10



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Tracking Decisions 2019/20

Tracking Decisions- 17 July 2019 Official

maintenance and/or improvements.  
A key criteria for MRN funding is that 
the scheme must be of a sufficient scale 
that requires a contribution from DfT 
in the order of £20-£50m, up to £100m 
by exception.  

Minute No. 7

Transforming Cities 
Fund

5 June 2019

Committee requested that an update be provided to members relating to the 
following item –

 Whether Tranche 2 of the fund could be used to fund a cycle path from 
Pymouth to Yelverton;

 Whether the cycle scheme for Dawes Lane had been given priority within 
the programme of works.

Complete

Date: July 2019
Officer: Helen Prendergast
Progress: The following responses 
were provided via email dated 8 July 
2019.

Dawes Lane forms an important part of 
the off-road walking and cycling route 
between Brixton and Elburton.  The 
current condition of the path is poor.  
The Council has considered and costed 
options to either improve the existing 
route or provide a suitable alternative.  
Subject to the success of our TCF 
Tranche 2 bid, these options will be 
consulted upon prior to construction 
of the best performing option.

The Plymouth to Yelverton cycle path 
was not submitted for inclusion within 
the TCF T2 draft submission by Devon 
County Council.  

Officers from Devon County Council 
and Plymouth City Council met to 

P
age 82



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Tracking Decisions 2019/20

Tracking Decisions- 17 July 2019 Official

discuss potential schemes for inclusion 
within TCF T2.  Given the complexities 
of the scheme and the TCF T2 
timescales for delivery it was agreed 
that the scheme was not sufficiently 
progressed for inclusion in the draft 
bid.  The scheme remains a medium 
term ambition of the County Council

Minute No. 8

Overview of Air 
Quality Monitoring in 
Plymouth  

5 June 2019

The Committee requested that an update be provided to members relating to the 
possible link of mortality rates (due to air pollution issues) specifically related to 
the five areas contained within the AQMA.

Date: July 2019
Officer:  Helen Prendergast
Progress: Response had yet to be 
received.

Minute No. 9

Work Programme

5 June 2019

The Committee agreed to include the following items on its work programme for 
2019/20 –

 Update on The Box;
 iMayflower Project’
 Plymouth Sound National Marine Park;
 Mayflower Update;
 Plan for Fishing;
 Brexit – new burdens;
 Plan for Homes – first five years;
 Annual Housing Statement;

 Visitor Plan 2020 – 2030
 City Centre BID renewal;

Date: July 2019
Officer: Helen Prendergast
Progress; All items have been 
scheduled into the Committee’s work 
programme for 2019/20.

P
age 83



Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny Committee – Tracking Decisions 2019/20

Tracking Decisions- 17 July 2019 Official

 High Street Fund;
 Joint Local Plan Authorities annual monitoring report
 Climate Emergency Plan;
 Plan for Homes Three – update;
 Strategic transport programme;
 Plan for Homes
 Buses (Select Committee Review).

Complete 

P
age 84


	Agenda
	4 Minutes
	6 The Box Update
	7 The iMayflower Project
	9 Work Programme
	10 Tracking Decisions



